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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

Year 2010 is another monumental year for the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). After listing of the Company in 2007 
and transferring its listing from the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) to the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2009, the Company has successfully completed the acquisition of the entire issued share capital 
of Sunward Telecom Limited (“Sunward”) in September 2010 (the “Acquisition”). Sunward and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the 
“Sunward Group”) is principally engaged in the research and development, production and sales of RF-SIM products and licensing 
of the RF-SIM operation rights in markets other than Hong Kong and Macau.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are of the view that in the light of the fierce competitions in the Customer 
Relationship Management (“CRM”) industry, it is necessary for the Group to broaden its revenue sources so as to enhance its 
competitiveness. Given that RF-SIM is still at the early development stage, the Directors believe that RF-SIM has a great business 
potential and the Group will be able to enjoy the expected revenue and business growth from the RF-SIM business.

With approximately HK$56,491,000 contributed by the newly acquired subsidiary, the Sunward Group, the Group reached a 
recorded high revenue of approximately HK$280,215,000 in 2010, representing an increase of approximately 31% as compared 
with approximately HK$214,503,000 in 2009. The following table illustrates the Group’s revenue from 2006 to 2010:
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On top of the Acquisition, the Group has advantages on the traditional front too. The Group’s strong reputation and transparency 
increase confidence of its customers. The current production capacity is at an impressive level of approximately 4,100 seats, securing 
the Group’s leading position in China. The geographic location at the “China Service Outsourcing Base” of Guangzhou provides the 
Group with strong government support, and the Group is benefited from the trilingual environment within the region, namely the 
Mandarin, Cantonese and English speaking-population. The Group also has one of the most experienced management teams, and 
a competent research and development (“R&D”) department that facilitates the efficient operation and increase of profitability.

The Group enjoys a solid customer portfolio that includes telecommunications giants such as Hutchison, PCCW, and China Unicom; 
insurance companies like AIG; and daily life necessity industry leaders including KFC and Guangzhou Watsons etc.. Looking ahead, 
we believe the CRM outsourcing market will continue to be benefited from the opportunities arising from the favorable government 
policies in China including the growth in 3G mobile communications and domestic demand. The Group is confident that in 2011 
it will win more service contracts for both telecommunications and non-telecommunication segments in the provinces outside 
Guangdong. The Group is confident that it will achieve continuous business growth as it is well positioned to take the advantage of 
market expansion.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (continued)

The phenomenal demand explosion must of course be supported by comparable supply expansion. The Group aims to expand 
seating capacity of approximate 400 by establishing a new CRM service center located at Liwan District in Guangzhou and to 
provide premium services for high-end customers. The new CRM service center is an innovation and optimization of existing facilities 
and is expected to start operation in the second half of 2011. Its operation symbolizes the Group’s vision of providing quality CRM 
outsourcing services to perfection.

The Company is a young company that is fast growing and ever evolving. It imagines, conceptualizes, realizes, and takes new 
challenge and new form. Through business acquisitions, it has been constantly expanding its investment portfolios on an 
enterprising yet prudent strategy aiming to provide you with the best return on your investment.

As China enters into this new era of business and the global arena, I am proud of the Company for being what it is today. I am also 
grateful to you for your unfaltering support. I hope and trust that you are pleased with how the Company is growing and evolving, 
and look forward to discovering the future of the Company together.

By order of the Board of Directors

KWOK KING WA
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ACQUISITION OF RF-SIM BUSINESS
On 4 May 2010, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Mr. Li Kin Shing 
and Ms. Kwok King Wa, being the vendors (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to purchase from 
the Vendors the entire issued share capital of Sunward for an aggregate consideration of HK$2,000 million (subject to consideration 
adjustments (the “Consideration Adjustments”) as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 25 May 2010, which shall 
be satisfied as to an aggregate amount of HK$200 million by cash financed by internal resources of the Group on the completion 
date and by the issuance of convertible notes of HK$1,800 million. The conversion price for the convertible notes has been set at 
HK$1 per share. The actual numbers of shares to be issued will be subject to the profit of Sunward Group for the year ended 31 
December 2010 and by applying a price-earnings multiple of 20 times.

The internal resources of the Group financing the cash payments to Vendors include approximately HK$148 million of the proceeds 
raised by the Company on its initial public offer (the “IPO”) in October 2007. The original plan for the unused IPO proceeds is set 
forth in the prospectus of the Company dated 11 October 2007 (the “Prospectus”) and the 2009 annual report of the Company 
dated 15 March 2010. Due to the change of the market conditions and the Group has not been able to identify suitable premises 
to set up the new CRM centre in the Northeastern region of the PRC nor appropriate small to medium sized CRM services centers 
for acquisition, the Group decided to reallocate the unused proceeds as to approximately HK$148 million for the Acquisition with 
the remaining of the unused IPO proceeds, being approximately HK$138.7 million and HK$7.9 million, to set up a new CRM centre 
in the Southern region of the PRC and the development of new Internet CRM services, respectively, in accordance with the Group’s 
business plans as disclosed in the Prospectus.

Since the Vendors are Directors and controlling Shareholders, they are connected persons of the Company under Chapter 14A 
of the Rules of Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Accordingly, the transactions 
contemplated under the Acquisition Agreement constitute a connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. As 
the relevant percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) are more than 100%, the transactions contemplated under the 
Acquisition Agreement also constitutes a very substantial acquisition for the Company under Rule 14.06 of the Listing Rules. The 
Acquisition constituted a very substantial acquisition and connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules and was 
duly approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting duly convened and held on 8 
September 2010.

Further details of the Acquisition were included in the circular of the Company dated 23 August 2010 issued to the Shareholders. 

The Sunward Group is principally engaged in (i) the research and development, production and sales of RF-SIM products; and (ii) 
licensing of the RF-SIM operation rights in markets other than Hong Kong and Macau. It is the Company’s intention that the Group 
continues to carry on its business as a CRM outsourcing service provider focusing on the Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC markets. 
The Acquisition is to assist the Group to broaden its revenue sources so as to enhance its competitiveness.

Following the fulfillment of all term and conditions of the Acquisition Agreement, the Acquisition was completed on 15 September 
2010. Upon the completion, the Sunward Group has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results 
of the Sunward Group for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2010 were included in the annual results of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2010. The revenue included in the consolidated income statement since 15 September 
2010 contributed by the Sunward Group was approximately HK$56,491,000 and its contributed net profit was approximately 
HK$29,219,000 over the same period. Had the Sunward Group been consolidated from 1 January 2010, the revenue contributed 
by the Sunward Group would be approximately HK$224,286,000 and contributed net profit of approximately HK$114,081,000.

As RF-SIM operates at 2.4GHz frequency, whilst there are two other payment technologies operate at 13.56MHz frequency,  
there are two incompatible standards for the mobile payment technology in the PRC. In the last quarter of 2010, there was an 
apparent concentration shift in the development strategies of certain major mobile operators which was evidenced by revenue 
generated from the sales of RF-SIM products decreasing significantly as compared to the previous quarters. Due to such a change 
in circumstances, management revised the profit forecast and re-assessed the fair value for Sunward. As a result, an impairment 
charge of approximately HK$4,127,997,000 of goodwill was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The Group is a CRM outsourcing service provider with business focus in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC markets. CRM is the 
process of providing services to customers with the use of communication and computer networks. During the year under 
review, the Group continued to provide services to established telecommunications service providers, including Hutchison 
Telecommunications, Hutchison Global, China Unicom Guangdong, and PCCW Mobile. Besides, the management continues to 
diversify the Group’s CRM customer base to non-telecommunications industries, the clients of which include, but not limited to, 
KFC, Guangzhou Watsons and Guangzhou Park’N Shop.

Upon the acquisition of the Sunward Group in September 2010, RF-SIM business has been added as one of the principal business 
segments. The principal business of the Group is classified into the following three segments:

Inbound Services
The Group offers inbound services which comprise a range of customer hotline services, including general enquiry, technical 
support, broadband connection arrangement, service installation, account activation, subscriber details update, account enquiry, 
account termination, order placement, member registration, built-in secretary (“BIS”), and a super secretarial services (“Super BIS”). 
BIS service is a personalized message taking service, where its operators transmit messages left to the subscriber via SMS. The Super 
BIS service is a concierge service where the operators can provide advanced functions such as making restaurant reservation and 
purchasing flight tickets for high-end subscribers.

Outbound Services
Outbound services are mainly made up of telesales and market research services. The Group’s operators run on behalf of their 
customers promotions and ongoing telemarketing via unsolicited phone calls (cold calls). The operators can also conduct large scale 
surveys to efficiently collect feedback, opinions, and in some cases, complaints for their customers.

RF-SIM Business
RF-SIM is a technology of proprietary intellectual property right that embeds a special-made radio frequency module into a mobile 
SIM card that complies with GSM specifications. The radio frequency SIM card is a combination of ordinary mobile phone subscriber 
identity module card and contactless smartcard. RF-SIM business covers (i) the research and development, production and sales of 
RF-SIM products; and (ii) licensing of the RF-SIM operation rights in markets other than Hong Kong and Macau.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The impact of the financial tsunami continues to unfold around the globe with the notable exception of China. The economy of 
the PRC has grown by 10.3% in 2010 and is projected to grow by 7% yearly from 2011 to 2015. In order to grasp the valuable 
opportunities arising from the favorable government policies in China including the growth in 3G mobile communications and 
domestic demand, the Group continues to explore the China market.

China has entered into the stage of globalized competition, industries that choose to outsource their operation extend from 
traditional telecommunications to finance, postal, travel, healthcare, logistics, information technology, Internet commerce, media, 
public utilities and retail. The potential size of CRM market is as large as the size of the China consumer market. When consumption 
takes off, the Group is well positioned to capture the opportunities.

Since the mobile service operators in China continue to promote the mobile payment as one of their value-added services besides 
the voice and data, the RF-SIM technology advocated by Sunward is regarded as one of their corporate standards. Despite the 
competition of alternative solutions in the mobile payment is getting severe, RF-SIM technology is still being regarded as one of 
the most competitive solutions in the mobile e-commerce market. The Group continues to ship the current product, and develops 
new products and formulates new marketing strategies to cope with the changes in the market situation and to fulfill various 
requirements of mobile service operators and other service providers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Turnover
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s total turnover was approximately HK$280,215,000, representing an increase of 
approximately 31% as compared to that of last year. There was approximately a 27% increase in turnover contributed by the newly 
acquired RF-SIM business while only approximately 4% increase in turnover contributed by CRM service business due to a slow 
recovery pace after the financial tsunami and credit crunch in Europe during 2010.

Inbound services, outbound services and RF-SIM business accounted for approximately 43%, 37% and 20% of the Group’s total 
turnover for the year ended 31 December 2010 respectively. There was an increase of approximately 10% of turnover from inbound 
services and a decrease of approximately 1% of turnover from outbound services as compared with last year. Below are the charts 
illustrating the Group’s revenue generated from different services in 2009 and 2010.
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Gross Profit
The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 was approximately HK$114,813,000, representing an increase of 
approximately 49% as compared with last year. The gross profit margin increased by approximately 5% to approximately 41%. The 
increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to the incorporation of RF-SIM business, a higher margin business segment. 

The Group’s gross profit of CRM service business for the year ended 31 December 2010 was approximately HK$73,133,000, 
representing a decrease of approximately 5% as compared with last year. The gross profit margin of CRM service business 
decreased by approximately 3% to approximately 33%. The decrease in gross profit margin of CRM service business was mainly 
attributed to the appreciation of RMB and increase in operators’ pay in line with China’s inflation rate. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Inbound services, outbound services and RF-SIM business accounted for approximately 27%, 36% and 37% of the Group’s gross 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 respectively. The gross profit margins of the inbound services, outbound services and 
RF-SIM business for the year ended 31 December 2010 were approximately 26%, 40% and 74% respectively. Below are the charts 
illustrating the Group’s gross profit from different business segments from 2006 to 2010.
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Administrative Expenses
During the year under review, the total administrative expenses of the Group were approximately HK$46,717,000 equivalent to 
approximately 17% of the Group’s sales in 2010. The administrative expenses to sales ratio was approximately 4% lower than that 
of last year.

Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company 
The Group’s loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 was approximately 
HK$3,774,770,000, while the Group’s profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 
was approximately HK$38,141,000. The loss for the year included certain non-cash items arising from the Acquisition that are not 
as a result of the operations of the Group. These items include a goodwill impairment charge of approximately HK$4,127,997,000 
and a fair value gain on purchase consideration payables of approximately HK$291,086,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

CRM SERVICE BUSINESS
Business Review
Customers in Telecommunications Industries
In 2010, the Group continued to provide services to established telecommunications service providers. The Group successfully 
acquired the service contract from China Telecom Corporation Limited Best Tone Information Services, Guangdong Branch for 
telesales service. However, due to a slow recovery pace after the financial tsunami and credit crunch in Europe, there was only 
a slight increase in turnover of the Group from telecommunications service providers for the year ended 31 December 2010 of 
approximately 5% as compared with last year.

Customers in Non-Telecommunications Industries
In 2010, the Group continued developing its non-telecommunications customer base for CRM business and successfully acquired 
the service contracts from Magazines International (Asia) Limited for telesales service, Guangzhou Park’N Shop Supermarkets 
Limited, Dongguan National Trade Supermarkets Limited, Jiangmen Park’N Shop Supermarkets Limited and Shanghai Park’N Shop 
Supermarkets Co., Limited for hotline service. The Group continued cooperation and provision of CRM services to well established 
customers and customers having establishments in the PRC in provinces other than Guangdong. In line with their development and 
expansion, there is increasing demand of our services. Both new and established customers have built up a consolidated customer 
base of the Group and have witnessed the achievement of the Group’s development in non-telecommunication industries.

Multi-Skill Training
Benefiting from the government’s favorable training policy for CRM industry in China, the Group provided various training 
programs for staff, including a multi–skill-and-management training program. This training program is designed to imbue the 
experienced operators with skills that will allow them to work on multiple projects. This makes the project teams more versatile and 
better allocates the Group’s resources. Consequently, operators that would otherwise be idle can now serve customers of different 
projects. That has significantly enhanced the Group’s efficiency, particularly in small projects with volatile call volume.

An additional benefit of the training program is the further improvement of service quality. The multi-skill operators have attended 
at least two structured training programs, and have demonstrated superior performance in terms of customer satisfaction and 
telesales success rate. The Directors believe that the operators with multi-skills can form an elite CRM team that particularly suits for 
high-end customers.

CRM Service Centers
As at 31 December 2010, the Group operated three CRM service centers in Guangzhou, the PRC, with a total seating capacity 
of approximately 4,100. The Group had approximately 3,409 employees for operation function, and the utilisation rate was 
approximately 84%, representing a decrease of approximately 4% as compared with that of last year. The Group provided various 
trainings for staff to enhance their multi-skills for different programs. The efficiency enhancement has resulted in a general increase 
in productivity of each workstation. Consequently, the Group was able to maintain the utilization rate at sustainable level while 
generating larger revenue.

The Group established a subsidiary, Shenyang China Elite Info. Services Co., Ltd. 瀋陽盛華信息服務有限公司 (“Shenyang Elite”) in 
Shenbei District of Shenyang City in December 2008 and plans to establish an outsourcing base in Shenyang. However, due to the 
change of the market conditions and the Group has not been able to identify suitable premises to set up the new CRM centre in the 
Northeastern region of the PRC so Shenyang Elite was closed in August 2010 and incurred total losses of approximately HK$65,000.

In November 2010, China Elite Info. Co., Ltd. (廣州盛華信息有限公司) (“China Elite“) entered into lease agreements with 
Guangzhou City Liwan District Chajiao Street Chajiao Joint-Stock Cooperative Economic Association (廣州市荔灣區茶滘街茶滘股份
合作經濟聯合社), an independent third party, pursuant to which China Elite rents the premises located at 4th and 5th Floor, No.10, 
Hualei Road, Liwan District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (“Hongmian Premises”) with an aggregate gross floor 
area of approximately 1,946.1 square meters. The Group intends to use Hongmian Premises as its fourth CRM service center.



International Elite Ltd. Annual Report 201010

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Acquisition of New Customers
During the year under review, the Group has entered into service contracts with the following customers on the provision of CRM 
services.

Customer Service Contract date
   

Magazines International (Asia) Limited Telesales Service March 2010

China Telecom Corporation Limited Best Tone Information Services, 
Guangdong Branch Telesales Service August 2010

Guangzhou Park’N Shop Supermarkets Limited Hotline Service November 2010

Guangzhou Park’N Shop Supermarkets Limited, Shenzhen Branch Hotline Service November 2010

Dongguan National Trade Supermarkets Limited Hotline Service November 2010

Jiangmen Park’N Shop Supermarkets Limited Hotline Service November 2010

Shanghai Park’N Shop Supermarkets Co., Limited Hotline Service November 2010

Awards and Certification
In July 2010, China’s Best Customer Service Appraisal Committee conferred the “Best Outsourcing Service Provider in China” award 
to China Elite.

Future Prospect
The Group strives to increase the penetration in the China market and the possibility of developing non-telecommunications 
markets. The Group expects new market opportunities from the startup of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. More clients recognise the 
importance of the Group’s professional service and may cooperate with the Group for lower operation cost, bigger market and 
higher customer loyalty management. The Group looks forward to entering into service agreements with these potential customers. 
With its expansion in the China market, the Group will be benefited from the opportunities arising from the favorable government 
policies including the growth in 3G mobile communications and domestic demand.

In addition, the Group has been constantly seeking for business improvement and worked out plans on launching new services, 
new programs and entering into new markets. The management continues to diversify the Group’s CRM customer base to non-
telecommunications industries in order to capture more business opportunities. At present, the Group has identified several 
potential customers and started the negotiation with the customers in industries including but not limited to food and beverage, 
slimming and beauty shops, etc.

Internet CRM
The Group reached an agreement with MSN China in November 2007 for an Instant Messaging (“IM”) CRM platform and CRM 
service provision. The management believes this low cost text-based enquiry and flexible-pricing service will attract more users and 
the Group will enjoy steady business growth through reduction of the Group’s operation costs.

The introduction of Internet CRM service will create unique value for our customers. The Group believes that by changing the cost 
structure and increasing revenue source, the new service will enhance profit margin for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

New Markets
Due to the favorable market environment in China, including the startup of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan, the growth in 3G mobile 
communications and domestic demand, we expect the China market will provide more opportunities for the business development 
of the Group. The Group plans to continuously broaden its customer base within the telecommunications industry. The Directors 
intend to seek further business opportunities with China Unicom for the provision of CRM outsourcing services in the PRC in 
provinces other than Guangdong. The Group will also participate in the bidding of CRM outsourcing service contracts from China 
Mobile, the leading telecommunications service provider in the PRC. As at the date of this report, the Group has yet secured any 
service contract with China Mobile.

Moreover, the Group also seeks to develop the non-telecommunications markets and overseas markets. As both CRM and 
outsourcing gain increasing recognition, the Directors anticipate there will be a growing demand for quality CRM outsourcing 
solution from industries including finance, Internet, travel, health care, market research and retail etc., as well as from overseas 
markets. The Group will continue to seek further business opportunities with companies having establishments in the PRC in 
provinces other than Guangdong.

New Service Centers
The Group aims to expand seating capacity by establishing new CRM service centers so as to ensure there are sufficient resources 
for new businesses in the future. The Group has received a letter from the Yonghe Economic Zone of Guangzhou: Economic and 
Technological Development District (廣州經濟技術開發區) in March 2008 and a letter from the Guangzhou Panyu District (廣州番
禺區) in November 2009 in relation to the possibility of offering government support in the use of land for the establishment of an 
outsourcing base. The Group is in the progress of negotiating the terms on the aforesaid land use support with the government. 
The Group is establishing a new CRM service center located at Liwan District in Guangzhou, Hongmian Premises with an expected 
seating capacity of approximate 400 to provide premium services for high-end customers. The new CRM service center is an 
innovation and optimization of existing facilities and is expected to start operation in the second half of 2011. Its operation 
symbolizes the Group’s vision of providing quality CRM outsourcing services to perfection.

RF-SIM BUSINESS
Business Review
The Group continued to sell RF-SIM cards to the major mobile service operators in China, through the key SIM card suppliers, and 
RF-SIM readers to the key point-of-sales device manufacturers, and electronic payment system integrators. The Group will keep 
promoting through these mobile service operators’ RF-SIM marketing campaigns and foresees that there will be more SIM card 
suppliers appointed by these mobile service operators will be buying from the Group. However, the Group has observed that there 
were changes in the market situation since the end of year 2010, and there will be an uncertainty in the deployment of the RF-SIM 
products with the major customers. The Group has prepared for any abrupt change in the original favorable business condition by 
implementing new marketing strategies.

Marketing Strategy
The Group continues to engage more agents to resell and distribute the RF-SIM card and RF-SIM readers so as to increase the 
distribution channels and strengthen the promotion of the technology and products for specific geographic location, say a particular 
municipal city and for specific vertical market, say a particular industry like the household door lock supply. On top of the licensed 
manufacturer who was still supplying to one of the mobile service operators in China, the Group is now expanding the licensing 
business and will further increase the coverage and penetration of RF-SIM products and technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Product Development
The Group continues to develop new products to add to its existing portfolio, one of the products will be new dual-mode RF-
SIM products which will comply both 13.56MHz & 2.4GHz standards. Hence the Group can take advantages of both standards 
and extend the capabilities in providing products which are appealing to the worldwide market besides China. The Group is also 
strengthening its R&D capabilities to further increase the product portfolio which includes the category for selling to consumers 
directly.

Manufacturing & Production
The contracted manufacturing facility of the Group has been increased in their production capacity and the Group has also engaged 
other factories in China in the production of new products. This arrangement allows the Group to improve its contingency plan for 
production and increase the capacity for future demand. New molding and production process was started in the factory at Taiwan 
which will further improve the quality and reliability of the product.

Future Prospect
Since the Group is pursuing business development in the mobile payment industry, which is part of the mobile e-commerce and 
prospects in “Internet of Things”, the Group is confident that the technology and products it is advocating and selling are one of 
the best solutions in the market. The new product line and portfolio and adjustment of the sales and marketing focus from mobile 
service operators to other retail business operators shall contribute more to the group’s revenue and profit in the upcoming future. 
The Group has realised that there would be a slow down in the RF-SIM business due to the controversy between the mobile service 
operators and the financial institutions in China about the standard of mobile payment. Nevertheless it should not be immediately 
interpreted as a substantial impact in the favorable market situation for the Group. Since the Group has observed uncertainty in the 
adoption of RF-SIM technology in China by different mobile service operators, which may influence the Group’s sales income, the 
Group has taken various measures and tried its best to reduce the impact from these risks.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Group adopts a sound financial policy, and the cash surplus is deposited at the bank to facilitate extra expenditure or 
investment. The management makes financial forecast on a regular basis. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no outstanding 
loan or borrowing, and the gearing ratio (being ratio of total long term borrowings to equity) was therefore inapplicable. As at 31 
December 2010, the Group’s balance of cash and deposits was approximately HK$294,903,000, which was primarily attributable to 
the proceeds from the IPO and earnings.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash at banks and in hand 204,110 48,793
Short-term bank deposits 90,793 374,197
   

Total cash and deposits 294,903 422,990
   

The Group normally finances its operations with internally generated cash flows. Cash position decreased by approximately 
HK$128,087,000 in 2010.

As at 31 December 2010, the current ratio was 8.31 (2009: 36.47) and the quick ratio was 7.78 (2009: inapplicable as the Group 
did not have any inventory).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK
The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange rate risk as the Group’s sales, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in 
RMB and Hong Kong dollars.

ASSETS MORTGAGE
The Group had no outstanding asset mortgage as at 31 December 2010.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2010.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION, DISPOSAL OR INVESTMENT
The Company has completed the Acquisition in September 2010 as disclosed in the section headed “Acquisition of RF-SIM 
business”.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and 
investment during the year under review.

GEARING RATIO AND INTEREST CAPITALIZATION
The Group had no outstanding bank loans or other loans with interest as at 31 December 2010. During the year under review, no 
interest was capitalized by the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2010, there was approximately HK$2,047,000 capital commitments outstanding but not provided for in the 
financial statements (2009: Nil).

SEGMENT REPORTING
Adopting IFRS 8, Operating Segments and in a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the 
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group 
has identified three reportable segments which are inbound services, outbound services and RF-SIM business. Detail of segment 
reporting is set out in note 6 to this report.



International Elite Ltd. Annual Report 201014

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 3,669 employees (2009: 3,813 employees). Among them, 3,651 employees work in PRC, 
16 employees work in Hong Kong and 2 employees work in Macau.

Breakdown of the Group’s staff by functions as at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

As at
31 December

2010

As at
31 December

2009
   

Management 18 13
Operation 3,441 3,617
Financial, administrative and human resources 86 83
Sales and marketing 26 21
Research and development 57 36
Repair and maintenance 41 43
   

3,669 3,813
   

The total staff remuneration including directors’ remuneration paid by the Group in 2010 was approximately HK$156,525,000 (2009: 
approximately HK$139,152,000). The remuneration paid to the staff, including Directors, is based on their qualification, experience, 
performance, and market rates, so as to maintain a competitive remuneration level. The Group also offers various staff welfare, 
including share option scheme, housing fund, social insurance and medical insurance. It believes that employees are the most 
valuable assets of the Group.

DISCLOSURE UNDER CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES
The Directors confirmed that they were not aware of any circumstances which would give rise to a disclosure requirement under 
Rules 13.13 to 13.19 of the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATION LOCATION
The principal activity of the Company is investment holdings. Activities and the analysis of operation location of its subsidiaries are 
set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
The principal places of business include Hong Kong, the PRC, and Macau.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Five-Year Financial Summary
A summary of the consolidated income statement and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 92 of this report.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in the consolidated income statement, page 35 of this 
report.

Major Customers
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the turnover attributable to the largest customer and the five major customers accounted 
for approximately 35% and approximately 82% of the Group’s turnover respectively.

Major Suppliers
Purchases from largest supplier accounted for approximately 19% of the Group’s total purchases. Purchases from the five largest 
suppliers accounted for approximately 72% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, or any of their respective associates, or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of the Directors own 
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company), had any interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five 
largest suppliers during the year.

Dividends
The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010. 
2009 final dividend of 1 cent and special dividend of 3 cents per ordinary share were paid to equity holders of the Company in May 
2010.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

Debentures
The Group has not granted any convertible debentures, futures, options, or other similar rights save as disclosed in the Prospectus.

Reserves
Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial statements.
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Distributable Reserve and Share Premium
Under the Cayman Companies Law, the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to 
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the 
distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had approximately HK$326,387,000 (2009: approximately HK$495,988,000) available for 
distribution to equity holders of the Company, subject to immediately following the distribution of dividends, the Company is able 
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Properties, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in properties, plant and equipments of the Group are set out in note 15 to the financial statement.

Connected Transactions
For the year ended 31 December 2010, approximately HK$4,471,000 under the category of the sales to related parties as disclosed 
in note 33 to the financial statements also fell under the definition of continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group has obtained waiver for strict compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from 
the Stock Exchange for the following various connected transactions as disclosed in the Prospectus and Renewal of Continuing 
Connected Transactions announcement dated 16 December 2009.

A. Service agreements
1. Service agreement between PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and Elitel Limited in 

respect of BIS services with a maximum aggregate annual value of HK$710,000 (Note 1); and

2. Service agreement between PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and China–Hong 
Kong Telecom Ltd. (“China–HK Telecom”) in respect of BIS and customer hotline services with a maximum 
aggregate annual value of HK$1,930,000 (Note 2).

B. China-HK Telecom Telesales Agreement
1. Service agreement between PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and China–HK 

Telecom in respect of telesales services with a maximum aggregate annual value of HK$8,400,000 (Note 3).

NOTES:

(1) On 16 December 2009, PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and Elitel Limited entered into a new service agreement 
pursuant to which PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore agreed to provide subscribers of Elitel Limited’s customers with 
BIS services for a term commencing on 1 January 2010 and ending on 31 December 2012 (both days inclusive). The fees payable for the services 
provided by PacificNet Communications Limited–Macao Commercial Offshore are determined on the number of subscribers using the BIS services 
on the last day of each calendar month times a fixed rate, which is agreed between Elitel Limited and PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao 
Commercial Offshore. Elitel Limited is wholly owned by Directel Holdings Limited (“DHL”), which is held as to 95.5% by New Everich Holdings Limited, 
a company held as to 54% by Mr. Li Kin Shing and 46% by Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively.

(2) On 16 December 2009, PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and China–HK Telecom entered into a new service 
agreement pursuant to which PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore agreed to provide subscribers of China–HK Telecom 
with BIS and customer hotline services for a term commencing on 1 January 2010 and ending on 31 December 2012 (both days inclusive). The fees 
payable for the services provided by PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore are determined on the basis of, inter alia, (i) 
in respect of BIS services, the number of subscribers using the BIS services on the last day of each calendar month times a fixed rate, which is agreed 
between China–HK Telecom and PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore; and (ii) in respect of customer hotline services, 
the number of seats required for each particular project, the number of incoming calls times corresponding fixed rate, which is agreed between 
China–HK Telecom and PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore. China–HK Telecom is wholly owned by Elitel Limited and 
indirectly wholly owned by DHL, which is held as to 95.5% by New Everich Holdings Limited, a company held as to 54% by Mr. Li Kin Shing and 46% 
by Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively.

(3) On 16 December 2009, PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore and China–HK Telecom entered into a new service 
agreement pursuant to which PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore agreed to provide telesales service to China–HK 
Telecom for a term commencing on 1 January 2010 and ending on 31 December 2012 (both days inclusive). The fees payable by China–HK Telecom 
to PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore in respect of the telesales services are derived from the number of successful 
orders/deals for specific products and/or services marketed, times a fixed rate, of which are mutually agreed between China–HK Telecom and 
PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore.
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Details of the above connected transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, the Prospectus and Renewal 
of Continuing Connected Transactions announcement dated 16 December 2009. The Company has applied for, and the 
Stock Exchange has granted to the Company, a waiver with respect to the continuing connected transactions as referred to in 
paragraphs A and B above from both the announcement requirements under Rule 14A.47 of the Listing Rules and the independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.48 of the Listing Rules, provided that the said continuing connected 
transactions are conducted in compliance with the conditions (including the respective proposed cap amounts) imposed by the 
Stock Exchange. The continuing connected transactions had been entered into in accordance with the actual relevant agreements 
and pricing policies and have not exceeded the cap disclosed in the Prospectus and Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions 
announcement dated 16 December 2009.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The 
independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid connected transaction were entered into (a) in the ordinary and 
usual course of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than 
terms available to or from independent third parties; (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that 
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In accordance with rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board of Directors engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the 
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s 
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect 
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on page 16 of the Annual Report in accordance with rule 14A.38 
of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Directors confirm that the Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

Post Balance-Sheet Events
There are no other significant post balance-sheet events up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
• Li Kin Shing (李健誠)
• Kwok King Wa (郭景華)
• Li Yin (李燕)
• Wong Kin Wa (黃建華)
• Li Wen (李文)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
• Tang Yue (唐越)
• Chen Xue Dao (陳學道)
• Cheung Sai Ming (張世明)
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In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Ms. Li Yin, Mr. Li Wen and Mr. Chen Xue Dao shall retire by rotation 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Confirmation of Independence
The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts
Each of Ms. Kwok King Wa, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Li Yin, Mr. Wong Kin Wa and Mr. Li Wen entered into a service contract with 
the Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from 16 October 2007. On 25 May 2009, in the light of the transfer of 
the Company’s listing from GEM to Main Board, each of Ms. Kwok King Wa, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Li Yin, Mr. Wong Kin Wa and 
Mr. Li Wen entered into a supplemental service agreement with the Company with the term commencing from 25 May 2009 to 
15 October 2010. On 15 October 2010, each of Ms. Kwok King Wa, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Li Yin, Mr. Wong Kin Wa and Mr. Li 
Wen entered into a renewal of service agreement with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 16 October 2010. 
The remuneration of the staff of the Group (including the Directors) will be determined by reference to the performance of the 
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions. The service contracts shall be terminated by either party 
giving not less than 3 months prior notice in writing. Each of Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. Cheung Sai Ming entered 
into a service contract with the Company for a period of 3 years commencing from 16 October 2007. On 25 May 2009, in the 
light of the transfer of the Company’s listing from GEM to Main Board, each of Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. Cheung 
Sai Ming entered into a supplemental service agreement with the Company with the term commencing from 25 May 2009 to 15 
October 2010. On 15 October 2010, each of Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. Cheung Sai Ming entered into a renewal of 
services agreement with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 16 October 2010. Save as disclosed above, none of 
the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or 
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory 
compensation.

Contract of Significance
Save for the service contracts of the Directors and the contracts under the Connected Transaction as disclosed above and note 33 to 
the financial statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries and 
controlling Shareholders was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the 
end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out in pages 30 to 32 of this report.

Directors Remunerations and Five Employees with Highest Emolument
Details of directors’ remunerations and five employees with highest emolument are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

No emoluments have been paid to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss 
of office during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil). No Director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the 
year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2009: Nil).
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Staff Contribution Retirement Schemes
The amounts of contributions and details of the Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes are set out in note 11(b) and note 
2.18(i) to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2010, so far as known to the Directors, the Directors and the chief executives of the Company had the following 
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or the debentures of Company or any of its associated corporation 
within the meaning of part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of The Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), which 
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provision of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests, and/or short positions of which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) and/
or required to be entered in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set 
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules:

Interests in Ordinary Shares of the Company

Number of shares held

Name of Directors
Company/Associated
corporation

Personal
Interests

Family
Interests

Corporate
Interests

Total of
Interests

Percentage
of Equity

       

Mr. Li Kin Shing Company (Note 1) 2,680,000 – 684,000,000 686,680,000 72.57%
Ms. Kwok King Wa Company (Note 2) – 2,680,000 684,000,000 686,680,000 72.57%
Ms. Li Yin Company (Note 3) – – – – –
Mr. Li Kin Shing Ever Prosper International 

Limited (“Ever Prosper”)
(Note 4)

500 465 – 965 96.5%

Ms. Kwok King Wa Ever Prosper (Note 4) 465 500 – 965 96.5%
Ms. Li Yin Ever Prosper (Note 3) 35 – – 35 3.5%

NOTES:

1. The 684,000,000 shares are owned by Ever Prosper, which is owned as to 50% and 46.5% by Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively. 
The 2,680,000 Shares are owned by Mr. Li Kin Shing in person. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa. Accordingly, Mr. Li Kin Shing is 
deemed to be interested in the 686,680,000 shares under the SFO.

2. The 684,000,000 shares are owned by Ever Prosper, which is owned as to 50% and 46.5% by Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively. 
The 2,680,000 Shares are owned by Mr. Li Kin Shing in person. Ms. Kwok King Wa is the spouse of Mr. Li Kin Shing. Accordingly, Ms. Kwok King Wa 
is deemed to be interested in the 686,680,000 shares under the SFO.

3. Ms. Li Yin holds 3.5% of the issued share capital of Ever Prosper, which in turn holds 72.29% of the issued share capital of the Company. Therefore, 
she will have an attributable interest of 2.53% of the issued share capital of the Company.

4. Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively holds 500 and 465 shares of the share capital of Ever Prosper, with the nominal value US$1 per 
share. Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa are the spouse of each other. Accordingly, Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa are deemed to be 
interested in the shares under each other’s name under the SFO.
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CHANGE IN THE SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY
The following chart sets out the possible effects of the Acquisition on the shareholding structure of the Company assuming there 
are no other changes to the shareholding structure of the Company from 5 April 2011 (the “Latest Practicable Date”) to the date of 
the Completion:–

As of the date hereof

Upon the issue of 
Conversion Shares (Note 4) 
assuming the conversion of 

the Convertible Notes (Note 5) 
in full at the Initial 

Conversion Price  (Note 6)
(for illustration purpose only)

(Note 1)

Upon the issue of 
Conversion Shares (subject to 

Convertible Notes Adjustments 
(“CN Adjustments”) (Note 7)) 

assuming the conversion of the 
Convertible Notes in full 
at the maximum amount 

under Consideration 
Adjustments (Note 8)

(for illustration purpose only) 
(Note 1)

Upon the issue of
Conversion Shares 

(subject to CN Adjustments) 
assuming the conversion of 
the Convertible Notes in full 

at the maximum amount 
under Consideration 
Adjustments and to 

the extent that 25% of 
the enlarged share capital 

is held by public 
Shareholders (Note 3)

Number of 
Shares

Approximate
%

Number of 
Shares

Approximate
%

Number of 
Shares

Approximate
%

Number of 
Shares

Approximate
%

         

Mr. Li Kin Shing 2,680,000 0.283 902,680,000 32.870 1,402,680,000 37.443 48,620,000 4.684
Ms. Kwok King Wa – – 900,000,000 32.773 1,400,000,000 37.371 45,940,000 4.425
Ever Prosper International Limited 

(Note 2) 684,000,000 72.289 684,000,000 24.907 684,000,000 18.259 684,000,000 65.891
Public Shareholders 259,520,000 27.428 259,520,000 9.450 259,520,000 6.928 259,520,000 25.000
         

Total 946,200,000 100.000 2,746,200,000 100.000 3,746,200,000 100.000 1,038,080,000 100.000
         

Notes:–

1. It is a term of the Convertible Notes that the noteholder shall exercise the right of conversion to the extent that the public float of the Company will 
not be less than 25% (or such lower percentage as may be allowed under the Listing Rules) immediately after such conversion. Accordingly, these 
scenarios are for illustration purpose only and may never happen in light of the restrictions imposed under the terms of the Convertible Notes.

2. Ever Prosper International Limited is owned as to 50%, 46.5% and 3.5% by Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Ms. Li Yin, respectively. Ms. 
Kwok King Wa is the spouse of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Li Yin is the sister of Mr. Li Kin Shing. Accordingly, Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa 
are deemed to be interested in the 684,000,000 Shares held by Ever Prosper International Limited under the SFO.

3. The calculation is based on the assumption that each of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa has exercised the right to convert the Convertible 
Notes to the same extent.

4. Conversion Shares refers to 1,800,000,000 Shares, subject to Consideration Adjustments and CN Adjustments, to be issued upon full conversion of 
the Convertible Notes.
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5. Convertible Notes comprise the First Convertible Note and the Second Convertible Note, to be issued by the Company with an aggregate principal 
amount of HK$1,800,000,000, subject to Consideration Adjustments and CN Adjustments, to settle part of the Consideration on the 2011 CN 
Date. The First Convertible Note refers to the Convertible Note to be issued to Mr. Li Kin Shing in a principal amount of HK$900,000,000, subject 
to Consideration Adjustments and CN Adjustments, on the 2011 CN Date as part of the Consideration. The Second Convertible Note refers to 
the Convertible Note to be issued to Ms. Kwok King Wa in a principal amount of HK$900,000,000, subject to Consideration Adjustments and 
CN Adjustments, on the 2011 CN Date as part of the Consideration. The Consideration refers to the consideration of HK$2,000,000,000 for the 
Acquisition, subject to Consideration Adjustments and CN Adjustments. 2011 CN Date means 31 May 2011 or if the 2010 Audited Accounts are 
not issued by the independent accountants for any reasons by 31 March 2011, the last day of the second month after the issuing date of the 2010 
Audited Accounts. 2010 Audited Accounts refers to the audited financial statements of the Sunward Group for the year ending 31 December 2010 as 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs and by the independent accountants.

6. Initial Conversion Price refers to the Initial Conversion Price of HK$1.00 (subject to CN Adjustments) for each Conversion Share to be allotted and 
issued upon conversion of the Convertible Note.

7. CN Adjustments refers to the adjustments to the Initial Conversion Price of the Convertible Notes which are usual anti-dilution adjustments upon the 
occurrence of, among others, consolidation or subdivision of Shares (share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company), capitalization of 
profits or reserves, capital distribution, rights issues of Shares or options over Shares, issues of Shares at less than current market price and modification 
of rights of conversion, as set out in the sale and purchase agreement between the Company and the Vendors dated 4 May 2010 in relation to the 
Acquisition.

8. The Consideration Adjustment refers to the adjustment to the Consideration.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had any interests 
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and/or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO), or which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which would have 
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2010, so far as known to the Directors, the persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) 
with interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register of the Company required to be 
kept under section 336 of the SFO or who are directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of 
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group were as follows:

Long position in shares:

Name Capacity Number of Shares
Approximate

percentage of interests
    

Ever Prosper Beneficial owner 684,000,000 (Note 1) 72.29%

NOTES:

1. The 684,000,000 shares are owned by Ever Prosper, which is owned as to 50%, 46.5% and 3.5% by Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Ms. Li 
Yin respectively. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, so far as known to the Directors, there was no other person (other than the 
Directors or chief executive of the Company) with interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall 
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in 
the register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or who are directly or indirectly interested in 10% 
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any 
member of the Group.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in the written resolutions of the 
Shareholders passed on 4 May 2010 (the “Share Option Scheme”). As at 31 December 2010, no option has been granted under 
the Share Option Scheme.

THE PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands. 
According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company should issue new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of 
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in this report, during the year under review, there was no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or the chief executive of the Company or their respective spouse or 
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement 
to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE, REDEMPTION OR CANCELLATION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES 
OR REDEEMABLE SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company has not redeemed any of its shares, and neither the Company nor any of 
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any share of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has redeemed, purchased or cancelled 
any redeemable securities of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and below, during the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors nor their 
respective associates is considered to have interests in a business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, 
with the businesses of the Group other than those businesses where the Directors have been appointed or were appointed as 
directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group.

Based on the quarterly report of PacificNet Inc. (“PacificNet”) for the nine months ended 30 September 2008, the 1,150,000 
shares in PacificNet acquired by Mr. Li Kin Shing, an executive Director, in September 2003, represented approximately 7.21% 
shareholding in PacificNet as of 30 September 2008.

According to its financial reports, PacificNet, a company incorporated in the State of Delaware and listed on the NASDAQ Stock 
Exchange in the US, is engaged in the business of providing CRM and outsourcing services, telecommunications value-added 
services, telecommunications and gaming products and services in Asia. The CRM and outsourcing services provided by PacificNet 
include business process outsourcing such as CRM centers, CRM and telemarketing services, and IT outsourcing services including 
software programming and development services. In April 2008, PacificNet consummated the sale of its subsidiary, PacificNet Epro 
Holdings Limited, which is primarily engaged in the business of providing call centre telecom and CRM services as well as other 
business outsourcing services in China. However, the Directors consider that it is uncertain as to whether or not PacificNet will 
continue to develop and/or operate CRM outsourcing services. Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that there is a potential 
risk that services provided by PacificNet may compete with the services provided by the Group.
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The Directors confirm that the Group had not experienced any notable customer loss in the past as a result of competition from 
PacificNet and the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of and at arms length from the business of PacificNet 
as (i) Mr. Li Kin Shing is only an investor in PacificNet and he has no management role or duty in PacificNet; (ii) to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, all the directors and senior management of PacificNet are independent of and not connected with any 
Directors, chief executive and substantial shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
and their respective associates and the Board operates independently from the board of directors of PacificNet; and (iii) the Group is 
not operationally or financially dependent on PacificNet.

The Directors confirm that Mr. Li Kin Shing has no absolute right to appoint a director in PacificNet. As Mr. Li Kin Shing holds no 
board representation or management position and only holds a 7.21% minority interest in PacificNet, it is highly unlikely that Mr. 
Li Kin Shing’s interest in PacificNet would influence the decision-making of the board of directors or management of PacificNet. As 
such, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s business will not be materially and adversely impacted as a result of Mr. Li Kin 
Shing’s shareholding interest in PacificNet.

Mr. Li Kin Shing has excluded his interests in PacificNet from the Group since:

1. the Group is a CRM outsourcing service provider whereas PacificNet is also engaged in the business of providing 
telecommunications value-added services, telecommunications and gaming products and services as well as IT outsourcing 
services;

2. the Group focuses on the Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC markets whereas PacificNet targets customers in the whole 
Asian market; and

3. given that Mr. Li Kin Shing only holds approximately 7.21% minority interest without any board representation or 
management position in PacificNet, injection of his interest in PacificNet into the Group does not provide a material benefit 
to the Group as a whole.

As of the date of this report, Mr. Li Kin Shing confirmed that he had no intention to inject his interest in PacificNet into the Group 
and he had no intention to increase his shareholding in PacificNet.

Ever Prosper, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Ms. Li Yin (the “Covenantors”) executed a deed of non-competition 
undertaking in favour of the Company on 10 October 2007 pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken to the Company 
that in the event the Covenantors were given any business opportunity that is or may involve direct or indirect competition with 
the business of the Group, the Covenantors shall assist the Company in obtaining such business opportunities in the terms being 
offered to the Covenantors, or more favourable terms being acceptable to the Company provided that the Covenantors shall not 
proceed with such opportunity should the Company decline to accept such offer.

COMPETING INTERESTS
Directel Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, is held as to 50% and 50% by Mr. Li Kin Shing, a non-executive 
director, the chairman of DHL, a controlling shareholder and a substantial shareholder of DHL, and Ms. Kwok King Wa, a controlling 
shareholder and a substantial shareholder of DHL and the spouse of Mr. Li Kin Shing, respectively. According to the Listing Rules, 
Directel Limited is an associate of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa and thus a connected person.

Directel Limited is the legal and beneficial owner of the RF-SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and Macau. Further, 
Directel Limited is the licensee of the operation rights of RF-SIM in markets other than the PRC in addition to its owned RF-
SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and Macau and it has the right to grant licences of the operation rights of RF-SIM 
intellectual property rights to others in markets other than the PRC. There is a risk that such services provided by Directel Limited 
may compete with the services provided by DHL and its subsidiaries (“DHL Group”) as Directel Limited is expected to grant licences 
of the operation rights of RF-SIM intellectual property rights in other regions in the future.
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DHL is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and a listed company on the GEM of The Stock Exchange with Mr. Li Kin 
Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa as controlling shareholders. According to the Listing Rules, DHL is an associate of Mr. Li Kin Shing and 
Ms. Kwok King Wa and thus a connected person. The principal activity of DHL is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are principally 
engaged in the provision of mobile phone services. DHL Group also provides services of resale of airtime to mobile network 
operators and telesales dealership.

The Directors confirm that as China–HK Telecom, a wholly-owned subsidiary of DHL, has obtained the exclusive licence of the 
operation rights of RF-SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and Macau and since the services provided by DHL Group are 
mainly in Hong Kong and Macau, there will be no direct competition between the services provided by Directel Limited, which are 
in territories other than the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau. There will also be no direct competition between the services provided by 
the Company, which its strategy is to concentrate on the application of the RF-SIM intellectual property rights in the PRC. Nevertheless, 
Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Directel Limited (as Covenantors) executed a deed of non-competition undertaking in 
favour of DHL on 24 May 2010 pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken to DHL inter alia, that (i) the Covenantors 
shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on his/her/its own account 
or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, any business which will or may compete with the 
RF-SIM business of DHL Group in Hong Kong and Macau; and (ii) in the event the Covenantors or their associates were given any 
business opportunities that is or may involve in direct or indirect competition with the business of DHL Group, the Covenantors shall 
assist DHL in obtaining such business opportunities in the terms being offered to the Covenantors, or more favourable terms being 
acceptable to DHL.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The corporate governance report adopted by the Company is set out in pages 25 to 29 of this report.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public during the year under review and as at the date of this report.

Auditors
KPMG was first appointed as auditors of the Company in 2007 and resigned with effect from 17 December 2010. Following the 
resignation of KPMG as auditors of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PWC”) was appointed as auditors of the Company 
with effect from 17 December 2010 to fill the casual vacancy and to hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

KWOK KING WA
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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The Company has committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders of 
the Company. The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in Appendix 14 – Code on Corporate Governance 
Practices of the Listing Rules (“CG Code”) during the year under review.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted its own code of conduct which is not more lenient than Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Specific 
enquiry to all Directors has been made and the Company has confirmed that the Directors have complied with the required 
standard set out in the code of conduct during the year ended 31 December 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises eight Directors, and is responsible for the Company’s business strategy, annual and interim results, succession 
planning, risk management, significant acquisitions, sales, capital transaction, and other significant operational and financial issues. 
The Board delegates to the Company’s management the following duties: preparation of annual and interim financial statements 
for the Board’s review before their publication, formulation of business execution strategy, definition and enforcement of company 
policies, implementation of adequate internal control systems, design of sound risk management, guidance, and compliance with 
the relevant laws and regulations.

The profile of Chairman and other Directors of the Board is set out in pages 30 to 32 of this report. Ms. Kwok King Wa is the 
Chairman and the executive Director of the Company. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the Chief Executive Officer and executive Director of 
the Company. Ms. Kwok King Wa and Mr. Li Kin Shing are the spouses of each other. For the improvement of the transparency 
and independence of the corporate governance, the role of the Chairman is separated from the Chief Executive Officer. These 
two positions have not been held by one person. Company designated three experienced independent non-executive Directors to 
protect interests of shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Cheung Sai Ming and Mr. Chen Xue Dao. Specific 
term of Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Cheung Sai Ming and Mr. Chen Xue Dao are three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Board of Directors held three meetings during the year under review. The following is the attendance record of the Board meetings:

Name of Directors
Number of

Meetings Attended
  

Ms. Kwok King Wa (郭景華) (Executive Director and Chairman) 3/3

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) 3/3

Ms. Li Yin (李燕) (Executive Director) 3/3

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華) (Executive Director) 3/3

Mr. Li Wen (李文) (Executive Director) 3/3

Mr. Tang Yue (唐越) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 3/3

Mr. Chen Xue Dao(陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 3/3

Mr. Cheung Sai Ming (張世明) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 3/3
  

Besides the meetings held above, Directors will hold meetings for special issues regularly.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING
Each of Ever Prosper, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Ms. Li Yin (collectively, the “Covenantors” and each a “Covenantor”) 
entered into a deed of non-competition undertaking (“Deed of Non-Competition Undertaking”) with the Company on 10 October 
2007 pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with the 
Company that, each of the Covenantors shall, and shall procure that their associates (other than members of the Group):

(i) not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on his/her/its own account 
or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, any business which will or may compete 
with the business then engaged and from time to time engaged by the Group in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau or anywhere 
else (the “Restricted Business”);

(ii) not solicit any of the Group’s existing or then existing employees for employment by him/it and his/her/its associates (other 
than members of the Group); and

(iii) not, without the Company’s consent, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the Group which may have 
come to his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as the controlling Shareholder or Director (as the case may be) or their 
respective associates for the purpose of competing with the Restricted Business.

The above restrictions do not apply in the following cases:

(i) each of the Covenantors and their respective associates (excluding members of the Group) may hold securities of any 
company which conducts or is engaged in any Restricted Business provided that (a) such securities are listed on a recognised 
stock exchange (as defined in the SFO); and (b) the aggregate number of securities held by the Covenantors and their 
respective associates (excluding members of the Group) do not exceed 5% of the issued shares of such company;

(ii) each of the Covenantors and their respective associates (excluding members of the Group) may invest in the Group; and

(iii) Mr. Li Kin Shing, one of the Covenantors, holds 1,150,000 shares in PacificNet Inc., representing approximately 7.21% 
shareholding in PacificNet Inc. as at 30 September 2008. The Company has agreed that Mr. Li Kin Shing can hold such 
shares.

Under the deed of non-competition undertaking, the Covenantors further undertake to the Company the following:

(i) the Covenantors shall allow, and shall procure that the relevant associates (excluding members of the Group) to allow, the 
Directors and the Company’s auditors to have access to such financial records of such Covenantors and/ or their respective 
associates as may be necessary for the Company to determine whether the terms of the deed of non-competition have 
been complied with;

(ii) the Covenantors shall allow, and shall procure that their associates (excluding members of the Group) to allow, the 
independent non-executive Directors to review, at least on an annual basis, the Covenantors’ compliance with the deed of 
non-competition undertaking, the options, pre-emptive rights or first rights of refusals provided by the Covenantors in their 
existing or future complied business;

(iii) the Covenantors shall provide all information necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive Directors in 
making a fair and reasonable assessment of the Covenantors’ compliance with the deed of non– competition undertaking 
including but not limited to, 1) a list of listed companies in which he/she/it and/or his/ her/its associates are beneficially 
interested or legally holds 5% or more shareholding interest and the nature of business of each of such companies; and 2) 
a list of private companies in which he/she/it and/ or his/her/its associates beneficially and/or legally holds and the nature of 
business of each of such companies;
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(iv) without prejudicing the generality of paragraph (i) above, the Covenantors shall provide to the Company with a declaration 
annually for inclusion by the Company in its annual report, in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of 
non-competition undertaking, how the deed of non-competition undertaking has been complied with and enforced, and 
disclose such information in the corporate governance report under the annual report of the Company (any such disclosure 
would be consistent with the principles of making voluntary disclosures in the corporate governance report);

(v) the Company shall disclose decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors relating to the 
compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-competition undertaking (e.g. the exercise of options or first rights of 
refusals) either through the annual report, or by way of announcements to the public;

(vi) in the event the Covenantors or their associates (excluding members of the Group) were given any business opportunity 
that is or may involve in direct or indirect competition with the business of the Group, the Covenantors shall assist, and 
shall procure their relevant associates to assist, the Company in obtaining such business opportunity directly or in the event 
that such business opportunity relates to the provision of any service(s) which is/are supplementary to the core business 
of such Covenantors or the relevant associates, by ways of subcontracting or outsourcing in the terms being offered to 
the Covenantors or the relevant associates, or more favorable terms being acceptable to the Company provided that 
the Covenantors shall not proceed, and shall procure their associates not to proceed, with such opportunity should the 
Company decline to accept such offer; and

(vii) each of the Covenantors agrees to indemnify the Company from and against any and all losses, damages and costs 
which loss, damage or cost is resulted from any failure to comply with the terms of the deed of non-competition by the 
Covenantors or any of their respective associates.

The independent non-executive Directors make review, at least on an annual basis, the compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition Undertaking by the Covenantors, and if applicable, the options, pre-emptive rights or first rights of refusals provided 
by the Covenantors on its existing or future competing businesses. The Board has received from each of the Covenantors the 
annual declaration in respect of their compliance with and the enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertaking. The 
independent non-executive Directors are of the view that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertaking are fully complied 
with.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of the 
CG Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are among others, to review and supervise the financial reporting processes 
and internal control procedures of the Group and to provide advice and comments to the Board accordingly. The audit committee 
consists of the three independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Cheung Sai Ming, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and 
Mr. Tang Yue. Mr. Cheung Sai Ming is chairman of the audit committee.

The year under review, the audit committee held three meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is as follows:

Name of Directors
Number of

Meetings Attended
  

Mr. Cheung Sai Ming (張世明) (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Tang Yue (唐越) 3/3
Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) 3/3
  

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2010 and is of the opinion that the audited financial statements complied with applicable accounting 
standards, Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Auditors’ Remuneration
The audit committee of the Company is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing other 
non-audit functions performed by the external auditors, including whether such non-audit functions have any potential significant 
negative impact on the Company.

Remuneration for auditing services and non-auditing services provided by the external auditors for the year ended 31 December 
2010 are set out in note 11(a) to the financial statements. Auditors’ remuneration for non-auditing services includes remuneration 
paid/payable to KPMG for (i) providing certain tax advisory service for approximately HK$100,000, and (ii) as Auditors & Reporting 
Accountants for the Acquisition for approximately HK$899,000.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established a nomination committee with written terms of reference. The nomination committee comprises 
one executive Director namely Mr. Li Kin Shing and two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. 
Cheung Sai Ming. Mr. Li Kin Shing has been appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee. The nomination committee 
is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and succession planning for the 
Directors.

The Board took into consideration criteria such as expertise, experience, the market situation and applicable laws and regulations 
when considering new director appointments during the year under review. The Directors held one meeting for the nominations of 
Directors. The attendance record of the meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors
Number of

Meetings Attended
  

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Executive Director and Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Cheung Sai Ming (張世明) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1
  

In the latest meeting, the nomination committee members considered and passed resolutions recommending that all the Directors 
shall be retained. In addition, resolutions were passed pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, and subject to the 
proposed arrangement being passed at the forthcoming annual general meeting, that Mr. Li Kin Shing, Mr. Wong Kin Wa and Mr. 
Tang Yue will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established a remuneration committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The 
remuneration committee comprises one executive Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kin Wa and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. Chen Xue Dao, and Mr. Cheung Sai Ming. Mr. Wong Kin Wa was appointed as the chairman of the 
remuneration committee. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are, amongst other things, to review and determine 
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior management and 
to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior 
management.
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Remuneration committee held one meeting during the year under review. The attendance record of the meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors
Number of

Meetings Attended
  

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華) (Executive Director and Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Cheung Sai Ming (張世明) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1
  

Remuneration committee members have considered and reviewed the service contracts of the executive Directors and senior 
management and the provisions of independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee members are of the opinion 
that the provisions of the service contracts of the executive Directors and senior management and the independent non-executive 
Directors are fair.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Company has conducted a review of its system of internal control periodically to ensure the effective and adequate internal 
control system. The Company convened meeting periodically to discuss financial, operational and risk management control. The 
Directors are of the opinion that internal controls at present have been valid and adequate.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company has disclosed necessary information in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company meets the media and 
investors on a regular basis and answers questions of the Shareholders.

In addition, annual/interim reports, announcements and press releases are posted on the Company’s website www.iel.hk as well 
as the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk which is constantly being updated in a timely manner and so contains 
additional information on the Group’s business.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. LI KIN SHING (李健誠先生), aged 53, is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for 
the overall strategic planning and direction of the Group. Mr. Li has over 23 years of experience in the telecommunications industry. 
He joined the Group in 1993 and has been a Director of the Company since its establishment in 2000. Mr. Li was the chief executive 
officer and president of ChinaCast Education Corporation, a limited liability company incorporated in the State of Delaware, US, 
whose shares are displayed on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board when he resigned from these positions on 2 February 2007. He 
is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa (郭景華), an executive Director and the elder brother of Ms. Li Yin (李燕), an executive Director. 
Mr. Li is also an authorized representative of the Company.

MS. KWOK KING WA (郭景華女士), aged 54, is an executive Director and the chairman of the Company. She is responsible for 
the Group’s overall management, corporate planning and business development. Ms. Kwok has over 15 years of experience in the 
telecommunications industry. She has joined the Group and has been the Director of the Company since 2000. She is the spouse of 
Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠), an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

MS. LI YIN (李燕女士), aged 36, is an executive Director and the chief operation officer of the Company and the general 
manager of China Elite. She is responsible for the Group’s overall management, corporate planning and business development. 
Ms. Li obtained a diploma in Finance from Guangzhou University in 1998. Ms. Li has over 11 years of experience in the 
telecommunications industry. She has joined the Group and has been the assistant to the general manager of the Company since 
2000. She is the sister of Mr. Li Kin Shing, an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

MR. WONG KIN WA (黃建華先生), aged 43, is an executive Director, the chief financial officer and the compliance officer of the 
Company. Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in Auditing from Guangzhou Radio & TV University in 1988. He joined the Group as 
chief financial officer in 2000 and is responsible for the overall management of the Group’s financial matters. Mr. Wong has over 
14 years of finance and marketing experience, in particular in the telecommunications industry in Hong Kong and Macau. Before 
joining the Group, he was the manager of China-Hong Kong Telelink Company Limited from 1997 to 1999. Mr. Wong joined 
Denway Motors Limited (駿威汽車有限公司) (previously known as Denway Investment Limited), a company whose shares are listed 
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, as the vice general manager in 1993. Mr. Wong is also an authorized representative of 
the Company.

MR. LI WEN (李文先生), aged 48, is an executive Director and the deputy general manager of the Company. Mr. Li is responsible 
for overseeing the overall management of the Group’s marketing activities. Mr. Li holds a bachelor degree in Electronic Engineering 
from Xi’an Electronic and Technology University (西安電子科技大學) and an Executive Master of Business Administration from Sun 
Yat Sen University (中山大學). He also holds the qualification as an engineer granted by Ministry of Mechanical and Electrical 
Industry (機械電子工業部). Mr. Li has over 24 years of experience in electronic industry. Mr. Li joined the Group in 2000.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. TANG YUE (唐越先生), aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2007. Mr. Tang is a 
co-founder of eLong, Inc., an online travel service company in the PRC. From 2001 to 2006, Mr. Tang served as Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of eLong, Inc., and in similar key executive positions at its predecessor company from 1999 to 2001. A wholly-
owned subsidiary of eLong, Inc., namely eLongNet Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“eLong Net”), is a customer of the 
Group in the past years and as at the date of this report. As of 31 December 2010, Mr. Tang was beneficially interested in 1,127,688 
ordinary shares in eLong, Inc., which is less than 5% of the then issued ordinary shares of eLong, Inc. and an aggregate 3,212,500 
ordinary shares in eLong, Inc. issuable upon the exercise of options beneficially interested by Mr. Tang. Prior to founding eLong 
Inc., Mr. Tang held various positions in the financial services industry in the United States from 1993 to 1999. On 30 December 
2002, Mr. Tang was appointed as a director of PacificNet Inc., a company incorporated in the State of Delaware and listed on the 
Nasdaq Global Market in the US. He later resigned from this directorship in PacificNet Inc. in 2004. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of Blue 
Ridge China, a private equity investment fund formed in 2006 that invests in companies in the PRC. Mr. Tang is currently (i) a non-
executive director of eLong, Inc., a limited liability company incorporated in BVI and continued in the Cayman Islands, whose shares 
are listed on the Nasdaq Global Market in the US; and (ii) a non-executive director of ChinaCast Education Corporation, a limited 
liability company incorporated in the State of Delaware, US, whose shares are displayed on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board. Mr. 
Tang studied at Nanjing University in the PRC and received his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Concordia College 
in the US.

MR. CHEN XUE DAO (陳學道先生), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2007. Mr. 
Chen obtained a bachelor degree in Cable Communications from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in 1967. Mr. 
Chen is currently a member of the Telecommunications Technology Committee of the Ministry of Information Industry of the PRC (中
國信息產業部通信科學技術委員會), member of the Economic Specialists in the Telecommunications Committee of the Ministry of 
Information Industry of the PRC (中國信息產業部電信經濟專家委員會), fellow member of the China Institute of Communications 
(中國通信學會), chairman of the Guangdong Institute of Communications (廣東省通信學會), Honorary chairman of Guangdong 
Communication Industry Association (廣東省通信行業協會) and Honorary chairman of Guangdong Internet Society (廣東省互聯
網協會) and committee member of the Guangdong Provincial Association for Science and Technology (廣東省科學技術協會). Mr. 
Chen also holds the qualification of a senior engineer at Professor grade, and he has been granted the special subsidy by the State 
Council of the PRC for his prominent contributions to engineering science since 1992.

MR. CHEUNG SAI MING (張世明先生), aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2007. 
Mr. Cheung is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in 
accountancy and finance from the Heriot-Watt University in 2006. He has extensive experience in auditing and accounting.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. ZHANG LAN (張嵐先生), aged 51, joined the Group in 2002 as Deputy General Manager of the Company overseeing the 
Company’s technology department. Mr. Zhang graduated with a bachelor degree in Telecommunications from Shanghai Railway 
College in 1982 and possesses over 24 years of experience in the telecommunications technology industry.

MS. CHAN WAI CHING (陳惠貞女士), aged 49, joined the Group in 2007 and is the Company’s Qualified Accountant and 
Company Secretary. Ms. Chan has over 25 years of experience in accounting, finance, taxation and corporate governance and is an 
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants. Ms. Chan holds a master degree of professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

MS. XUAN JING SHAN (禤靜珊女士), aged 42, joined the Group in 1999 and is the finance manager of the Group. Ms. Xuan 
worked as the accounts manager in Guangzhou Talent Information Engineering Company Limited (廣州天龍信息工程公司) 
from 1992 to 1999. She has 14 years of experience in the finance field. Ms. Xuan graduated from the Guangzhou Radio and TV 
University (廣州市廣播電視大學) with a diploma in Financial Accounting in 1992.

MS. LIN YUAN YI (林原翼女士), aged 36, joined the Group in 2005 and is the Manager of the Group’s Customer Service 
Department and assistant to the General Manager. Ms. Lin has 17 years of experience in customer relationship management. Prior 
to joining the Group, Ms. Lin worked for a Telecommunications service provider for over 10 years. Ms. Lin graduated from the Tai 
Shan Panshi TV University (臺山磐石電視大學) with a Diploma in Pedagogic English in 1994.

MS. PENG JIAN TAO (彭健濤女士), aged 35, joined the Group in 2005 and is the Manager of the Group’s Mobile Relationship 
Management Centre and assistant to the General Manager. Ms. Peng has 14 years of experience in customer relationship 
management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Peng worked for a Telecommunications service provider for 7 years. Ms. Peng 
obtained a Certificate in Administrative Management from the University of Macau (澳門大學) in 2000.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 22898888
Facsimile (852) 28109888

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF INTERNATIONAL ELITE LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Elite Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Group”) set out on pages 35 to 91, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, and 
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.
 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Turnover 5 280,215 214,503

Cost of sales 11(a) (165,402) (137,436)
    

Gross profit 114,813 77,067

Other revenue 7 5,790 9,253

Other gains 8 291,105 711

Impairment of goodwill 16 (4,127,997) –

Research and development expenses (6,639) (2,641)

Administrative expenses 11(a) (46,717) (45,384)
    

(Loss)/profit from operations (3,769,645) 39,006

Finance costs – (175)
Share of losses of an associate 18 – (2)
    

(Loss)/profit before income tax (3,769,645) 38,829

Income tax expense 12 (5,125) (688)
    

(Loss)/profit for the year and attributable to 
equity holders of the Company (3,774,770) 38,141

    

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to equity holders of 
the Company (expressed in HK cents per share):

– basic 14 HK$(3.99) HK$0.04
    

– diluted 14 HK$(3.99) HK$0.04
    

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss)/profit for the year (3,774,770) 38,141

Other comprehensive income 
– Currency translation differences 80,650 241

   

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (3,694,120) 38,382
   

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 64,159 59,772
Goodwill 16 281,409 –
Intangible assets 17 96,309 1,205
Investment in an associate 18 – 404
Deferred tax assets 19 80 4
    

441,957 61,385
    

Current assets
Inventories 22 28,035 –
Trade and other receivables 20 114,181 71,773
Cash and cash equivalents 21 294,903 422,990
    

437,119 494,763
    

Total assets 879,076 556,148
    

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to 

equity holders of the Company
Share capital 23 9,462 9,462
Reserves 25 (3,198,615) 533,108
    

Total equity (3,189,153) 542,570
    

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Purchase consideration payables 26 3,993,615 –
Deferred tax liabilities 19 22,013 11
    

4,015,628 11
    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 27 35,469 12,172
Current income tax liabilities 17,132 1,395
    

52,601 13,567
    

Total liabilities 4,068,229 13,578
    

Total equity and liabilities 879,076 556,148
    

Net current assets 384,518 481,196
    

Total assets less current liabilities 826,475 542,581
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2011.

Kwok King Wa Li Kin Shing
Director Director

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 4 64
Investments in subsidiaries 31 483,109 603
Deferred tax assets 19 – 4
    

483,113 671
    

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 20 592 737
Amounts due from subsidiaries 31 235,356 335,306
Cash and cash equivalents 21 66,280 188,795
    

302,228 524,838
    

Total assets 785,341 525,509
    

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 

of the Company
Share capital 23 9,462 9,462
Reserves 25 (3,243,849) 514,089
    

Total equity (3,234,387) 523,551
    

Non-current liabilities
Purchase consideration payables 26 3,993,615 –
    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 27 1,866 1,922
Amounts due to subsidiaries 31 24,247 –
Current income tax liabilities – 36
    

26,113 1,958
    

Total liabilities 4,019,728 1,958
    

Total equity and liabilities 785,341 525,509
    

Net current assets 276,115 522,880
    

Total assets less current liabilities 759,228 523,551
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2011.

Kwok King Wa Li Kin Shing
Director Director

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
        

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

reserve
Other

reserve
Statutory

reserve
Exchange

reserve

Retained
earnings/

(accumulated
losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

As at 1 January 2009 9,462 326,387 6,668 18,101 97 4,846 138,627 504,188

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – – – – – – 38,141 38,141

Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences – – – – – 241 – 241
         

As at 31 December 2009 9,462 326,387 6,668 18,101 97 5,087 176,768 542,570
         

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year – – – – – – (3,774,770) (3,774,770)

Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences – – – – – 80,650 – 80,650
Transactions with owners
Dividends relating to 2009 – – – – – – (37,848) (37,848)
Income tax expense of a subsidiary

borne by the ultimate shareholder – – – 245 – – – 245
         

As at 31 December 2010 9,462 326,387 6,668 18,346 97 85,737 (3,635,850) (3,189,153)
         

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 28 88,986 15,074
Income tax paid (589) (293)
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 88,397 14,781
    

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (173,908) (406)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 423 –
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,429) (46,213)
Expenditure on development of software (24) (991)
Interest received 542 1,601
Settlement on foreign currency forward contracts – (1,870)
    

Net cash used in investing activities (179,396) (47,879)
    

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (37,848) –
Decrease in pledged bank deposits – 40,000
Finance charges – (175)
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (37,848) 39,825
    

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (128,847) 6,727

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 422,990 416,549

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents 760 (286)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 294,903 422,990
    

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
International Elite Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the provision 
of Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”) services, which include inbound services and outbound services, to 
companies in various service-oriented industries. Following the acquisition of Sunward Telecom Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“Sunward Group”) as set out in Note 29, the Group is also engaged in research and development, production and sales 
of Radio-Frequency Subscriber Identity Module (“RF-SIM”) products and licensing of the RF-SIM operation rights in markets 
other than Hong Kong and Macau. The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 September 2000 as an 
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) 
of the Cayman Islands. The Company has established a place of business in Hong Kong and was registered in Hong Kong 
under Part XI of the Companies Ordinance as an overseas company on 27 June 2007. On 16 October 2007, the Company 
listed its shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the ”Stock Exchange”).

On 16 April 2009, the Company applied to the Stock Exchange for the transfer of listing from the GEM to the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange in respect of the 946,200,000 shares in issue. Approval was granted by the Stock Exchange for the 
shares to be listed on the Main Board and to be de-listed from GEM on 15 May 2009. Dealings in the shares on the Main 
Board commenced on 25 May 2009.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements 
have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2011.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Federation of Accountants. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
purchase consideration payables, which are stated at fair values.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group incurred a net loss of HK$3,774,770,000 and, as of 31 
December 2010, there was a deficit on total equity of HK$3,189,153,000. The loss for the year included certain 
non-cash items arising from the acquisition of the Sunward Group (Note 29) that are not as a result of the 
operations of the Group. These items include a goodwill impairment charge of HK$4,127,997,000 and a fair value 
gain on purchase consideration payables of HK$291,086,000. The net cash generated from operating activities 
during the year amounted to HK$88,397,000. Management considers that the Group’s funding requirements for 
the coming year are expected to be met through the cash flows generated from operating activities. Although the 
Group has a deficit position in total equity, the purchase consideration payables of HK$3,993,615,000 as at 31 
December 2010 are only convertible into shares from the date of issuance in 2011. The latest time for conversion is 
in 2016. The holders of the convertible notes can only demand for a cash repayment of HK$1,800,000,000, subject 
to adjustment, upon maturity in 2016 if the convertible notes are not converted into the shares of the Company by 
that time. No cash outflow will be made from the date of issuance of the convertible notes up to the maturity date 
in 2016 (Note 26). As a result, management believes that there are sufficient financial resources available to the 
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months. Accordingly, the consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Revised standards that are effective in 2010 and have been adopted by the Group
IFRS 3 (Revised) “Business combinations’’, and consequential amendments to IAS 27 “Consolidated and 
separate financial statements”, IAS 28 “Investments in associates”, and IAS 31, “Interests in joint ventures”, 
are effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations but with some 
significant changes compared with IFRS 3. For example, all payments to purchase a business are recorded 
at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured 
through the statement of comprehensive income. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to 
measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are expensed.

IAS 36 (Amendment) “Impairment of Assets”, effective 1 January 2010. The amendment clarifies that the 
largest cash-generating unit (or group of units) to which goodwill should be allocated for the purposes of 
impairment testing is an operating segment as defined by paragraph 5 IFRS 8, “Operating Segments” (that 
is, before the aggregation of segments with similar economic characteristics).

(ii) New standards, revised standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are 
effective in 2010 but do not have a significant impact to the Group

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Asset to Owners
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers
IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 7 Classification of Expenditures on Unrecognised Assets
IAS 17 (Amendment) Leases
IAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 39 Treating Loan Prepayment Penalties as Closely Related Derivatives, Cash 

Flow Hedge Accounting, Scope Exemption for Business Combination 
Contracts

IAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items
IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-Settled Share-Based Payment Transactions
IFRS 5 (Amendment) Non-Current Assets Held for Sales and Discontinued Operations
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) New standards, revised standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not 
yet effective in 2010 and have not been early adopted by the Group

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

IAS 12 (Amendment) Income Taxes 1 January 2012
IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures 1 January 2011
IAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Rights Issues 1 February 2010
IFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited Exemption of Comparative IFRS 7 

Disclosure for First-time Adopters
1 July 2010

IFRS 7 (Amendment) Disclosure – Transfer of Financial Assets 1 July 2011
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2013
IFRIC14 (Amendment) Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 

Requirement
1 January 2011

IFRIC19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 
Equity Instruments

1 July 2010

The directors are currently assessing the impact on their adoption and the impact of adoption of these new 
standards, revised standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards in future periods is 
not currently known or cannot be reasonably estimated.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made 
up to 31 December.

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations and for 
business combinations under common controls. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued 
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net assets.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost 
is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration arrangements. Cost 
also includes direct attributable costs of investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (continued)
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the 
consolidated income statement (Note 2.6).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless 
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as key management team that makes strategic 
decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Company’s functional 
and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

– assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date 
of that balance sheet;

– income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rates on the dates of 
the transactions); and

– all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
operations are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, 
exchange differences that were recognised in equity are recognised in the consolidated income statement 
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 39 years
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the unexpired term of lease
Facilities equipment 5 years
Office equipment 3 – 5 years
Vehicles and other equipment 3 – 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognised with administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to 
the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made 
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
business combination in which the goodwill arose identified according to operating segment.

(b) Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three years. Cost 
associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.

(c) Patent
Patent acquired in a business combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The patent has 
a finite useful life and is amortised over its estimated useful life of 14 years, which is equivalent to its legal 
life, on a straight-line basis.

2.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates and non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Financial assets
2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets are acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and with no intention of trading. They are included in current assets, except 
for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of reporting period which are classified as non-current 
assets.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and 
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial assets or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ’loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

• Significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

• It becomes probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

• Default or delinquency in payments from the debtor; or

• The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists.

For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), 
the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries or associates is required upon receiving dividends from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary or associate in the period the 
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the 
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.10 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognises at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value. Changes in fair value of the derivatives are recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

2.11 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average 
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct 
cost and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products sold or services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle 
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks.

2.14 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

2.15 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit 
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary 
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

2.18 Employee benefits
(i) Pension and employee social security and benefits obligations

The subsidiary in Hong Kong participates in a pension scheme. The scheme is generally funded through 
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds. The assets of the defined contribution 
plan are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. It is a pension plan under which the Group 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods.

The subsidiary in the PRC participates in defined contribution retirement plans and other employee social 
security plans, including pension, medical, other welfare benefits, organised and administered by the 
relevant governmental authorities for employees in the PRC. The Group contributes to these plans based on 
certain percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a certain ceiling, as stipulated by the relevant 
regulations.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an 
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(ii) Bonus plan
The Group recognises a provision for bonus when contractually obliged or when there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation.

(iii) Share-based payments
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of 
the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The 
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted including 
any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price); but excluding the impact of any 
service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and 
remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected 
to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises 
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting 
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income 
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the 
options are exercised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

2.20 Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as 
described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating 
to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type 
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) CRM services
CRM services comprise (1) inbound services which include customer hotline services and built-in secretary 
services, a personalised message taking services, and (2) outbound services which include telesales services 
and market research services.

Revenue is recognised when the services have been provided and the Group has obtained the right to 
demand payment of the consideration. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties 
regarding the recovery of the consideration due or when the amount of revenue and the costs incurred or 
to be incurred in respect of the services cannot be measured reliably.

(ii) Sales of goods
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and 
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the 
Group has delivered the goods to the customer, the customer has accepted the products and collectability 
of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(iii) Licensing income
Licensing income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreements.

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

2.21 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollars (“US$”). Foreign exchange risk arises from 
recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency.

The Group manages its exposures to foreign currency transactions by monitoring the level of foreign 
currency receipts and payments. The Group ensures that the net exposure to foreign exchange risk is kept 
to an acceptable level from time to time. The Group is presently not using any forward exchange contract 
to hedge against foreign exchange risk as management considers its exposure is minimal

At 31 December 2010, if HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 4% against RMB, with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would have been HK$2,669,000 lower/higher (2009: 
post-tax profit of HK$842,000 higher/lower) and the Company’s post-tax loss for the year would have 
been HK$Nil lower/higher (2009: post-tax profit of HK$1,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB denominated recognised assets and liabilities which are not 
hedged by hedging instruments.

At 31 December 2010, if HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 1% against US$, with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would have been HK$553,000 lower/higher (2009: 
post-tax profit of HK$89,000 higher/lower) and the Company’s post-tax loss for the year would have been 
HK$88,000 lower/higher (2009: post-tax profit of HK$88,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated recognised assets and liabilities which are not 
hedged by hedging instruments.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash balances placed with reputable banks.

As at 31 December 2010, if the interest rate on the cash at bank had been 25 basis points higher or lower 
with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would have been 
approximately HK$737,000 lower or higher (2009: post-tax profit of HK$1,057,000 higher or lower) and 
the Company’s post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK$166,000 lower or higher (2009: 
post-tax profit of HK$472,000 higher or lower).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

(iii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to the closing share price of the Company for the valuation of the purchase 
consideration payables (Note 26). If the closing share price of the Company as at balance sheet date 
has been increased or decreased by 1% (HK$1.87 instead of HK$1.70 or HK$1.53 instead of HK$1.70), 
the purchase consideration payables would have been increased or decreased by HK$325,954,000 or 
HK$360,260,000 (2009: Nil).

(iv) Credit risk
Credit risk arises if a customer or other counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. The credit 
risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other receivable and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions.

For credit exposures to cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits are only placed with reputable banks. For 
credit exposures to customers, management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit 
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit 
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when 
due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as 93% (2009: 95%) of the total trade 
receivables were due from the Group’s five largest customers and 17% (2009: 19%) of the total trade 
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, in the 
consolidated balance sheet. The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to 
credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other 
receivables are set out in Note 20.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s policy to managing liquidity risk is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from 
shareholders to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

The Group

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 

2 years
Between 

2 and 5 years
More than 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 December 2010
Trade and other payables 20,601 – – – 20,601
Purchase consideration payables

(Note 26) – – – 1,800,000 1,800,000
      

20,601 – – 1,800,000 1,820,601
      

At 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables 2,579 – – – 2,579
      

The Company

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 

2 years
Between 

2 and 5 years
More than 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 December 2010
Trade and other payables 315 – – – 315
Purchase consideration payables 

(Note 26) – – – 1,800,000 1,800,000
      

315 – – 1,800,000 1,800,315
      

At 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables 198 – – – 198
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from 2009.

The Group defines capital as total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share 
capital and reserves, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group actively and regularly reviews and 
manages its capital structure to ensure capital and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital 
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, projected operating cash flows and projected capital expenditures.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

(c) Fair value estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have 
been defined as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(level 3).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Liabilities
Purchase consideration payables 
(Note 26) – – 3,993,615 3,993,615

     

The fair values of the purchase consideration payables that are not traded in an active market are determined by 
using valuation techniques. The key assumptions used for the valuation are set out in Note 26. Please refer to Note 
4(c) for details of changes in these unobservable and subject input assumptions and their impact on the fair values 
estimate of purchase consideration payables.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2010:

Purchase
consideration

payables
HK$’000

  

Initial fair values at the date of acquisition (Note 29) 4,284,701
Fair values recognised in the income statement (291,086)
  

Closing balance 3,993,615
  

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting 
the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities are discussed below.

(a) Provision for impairment of assets
(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in Note 2.7. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (“CGU”) have been determined 
based on fair value less costs to sell calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 16).

The carrying amount of the goodwill has been reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of 
an impairment loss of HK$4,127,997,000 during the year. If the estimated sales growth rates for each of 
the coming years had been 1% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2010 (from 22% to 
-6% instead of from 23% to -5%), the Group would have recognised a further impairment of goodwill by 
HK$24,865,000. If the discount rate is increased by 1% (17.4% instead of 16.4%), the Group would have 
recognised a further impairment of goodwill by HK$19,159,000.

(ii) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. A considerable amount of judgement is required 
in assessing the realisation of these assets, including the expected cash flows generated by these assets. The 
Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is reasonable approximation of 
recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections 
of items such as turnover and operating costs.

(iii) Trade and other receivables
Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment of the collectibility of trade and other receivables 
from customers. In making its judgement, management considers a wide range of factors such as results 
of follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel, customers’ payment pattern including subsequent 
payments and customers’ financial position.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Fair value estimation of the patent acquired
The fair value of patent is determined by a wide range of measures as there is no active market existing for the 
patent acquired (Note 17 (a)).

If the estimated sales growth rate for each of all the coming years had been 1% lower or higher than management’s 
estimates at 15 September 2010 (from 102% to -6% instead of from 103% to –5% or from 104% to -4% instead 
of from 103% to -5%), the carrying amount of patent would have decreased or increased by HK$3,646,000 or 
HK$3,869,000, respectively. If the royalty rate had been 1% lower or higher than management’s estimates on 15 
September 2010 (2% instead of 3% of the estimated sales amount or 4% instead of 3% of the estimated sales 
amount), the carrying amount of patent would have decreased or increased by HK$32,422,000. If the discount rate 
had been 1% lower or higher than management’s estimates on 15 September 2010 (16.4% instead of 17.4% or 
18.4% instead of 17.4%), the carrying amount of patent would have increased or decreased by HK$4,068,000 or 
HK$3,796,000, respectively.

(c) Fair values estimation of purchase consideration payables
The fair values of convertible notes which are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select an appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions that 
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the issue date and each subsequent balance sheet date (Note 26). 
The valuation model requires the input of both observable and unobservable data.

If the expected volatility of underlying shares had been 1% lower or higher than management’s estimates on 31 
December 2010 (82.034% instead of 83.034% or 84.034% instead of 83.034%), the carrying amount of purchase 
consideration payables would have decreased or increased by HK$10,689,000 or HK$10,906,000, respectively. If 
the dividend yield had been 1% lower or higher than management’s estimates on 31 December 2010 (0.670% 
instead of 1.670% or 2.670% instead of 1.670%), the carrying amount of purchase consideration payables 
would have increased or decreased by HK$84,242,000 or HK$68,390,000, respectively. If the risk free rate had 
been 1% lower or higher than management’s estimates on 31 December 2010 (0.763% instead of 1.763% or 
2.763% instead of 1.763%), the carrying amount of purchase consideration payables would have decreased or 
increased by HK$4,283,000 or HK$3,632,000, respectively. If the discount rate had been 1% lower or higher than 
management’s estimates on 31 December 2010 (10.893% instead of 11.893% or 12.893% instead of 11.893%), 
the carrying amount of purchase consideration payables would have increased or decreased by HK$38,796,000 or 
HK$36,472,000, respectively.

(d) Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the 
historical experience of selling products of similar nature. Management will reassess the estimations at each balance 
sheet date.

(e) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. 
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are different to previously estimated, or it will 
write-off or write-down technology obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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5. TURNOVER
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Inbound services 119,362 108,983
Outbound services 104,362 105,520
Sales of goods 49,856 –
Licensing income 6,635 –
   

280,215 214,503
   

The Group has 3 customers whose transactions accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s aggregate revenue for 2010 
(2009: 2 customers). The amounts of revenue from the customers are as follows:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Largest customer 97,814 91,579
Second largest customer 83,216 78,129
Third largest customer 27,115 –
   

208,145 169,708
   

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM“). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the key management team of the Company. CODM reviews the Group’s internal reports 
in order to assess performance, allocate resources and determine the operating segments.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the results and assets attributable to each 
reportable segment. Interest income and expenditure are not allocated to segment, as this type of activity is driven by the 
central treasury function, which manages the cash position of the Group.

CODM has determined the operating segments based on these reports. The Group is organised into three business 
segments:

(i) Inbound services: this segment includes customer hotline services and built-in secretarial services, a personalised 
message taking services.

(ii) Outbound services: this segment includes telesales services and market research services.

(iii) RF-SIM business: this segment includes (i) the research and development, production and sales of RF-SIM products; 
and (ii) licensing of the RF-SIM operation rights in markets other than Hong Kong and Macau.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the reportable segments.

(a) Segment results and assets
CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the revenue from external customers and 
reportable segment profit (i.e. turnover less cost of sales).

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated by those 
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments including depreciation and amortisation of assets 
attributable to those segments.

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets with the exception of deferred tax assets 
and other assets.

The following tables present revenue, reportable segment profit and certain assets, liabilities and expenditure 
information for the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009:

For the year ended 31 December 2010
Inbound 
services

Outbound 
services

RF-SIM 
business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Revenue from external customers 119,362 104,362 56,491 280,215
Reportable segment profit 31,405 41,728 41,680 114,813
Depreciation and amortisation 739 885 113 1,737
Impairment of goodwill – – 4,127,997 4,127,997
Reportable segment assets 35,299 28,661 457,668 521,628
Addition to non-current segment assets 

during the year 256 569 2,394 3,219
     

For the year ended 31 December 2009
Inbound 
services

Outbound 
Services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Revenue from external customers 108,983 105,520 214,503
Reportable segment profit 32,215 44,852 77,067
Depreciation and amortisation 1,021 1,190 2,211
Reportable segment assets 43,821 29,665 73,486
Addition to non-current segment assets during the year 132 2 134
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss and assets

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 280,215 214,503
   

Consolidated revenue 280,215 214,503
   

Profit
Reportable segment profit 114,813 77,067
Other revenue and other gains (Note 7 and Note 8) 296,895 9,964
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (7,339) (5,469)
Finance costs – (175)
Share of losses of an associate – (2)
Impairment of goodwill (4,127,997) –
Research and development expenses (6,639) (2,641)
Unallocated head office and administrative expenses (39,378) (39,915)
   

Consolidated (loss)/profit before income tax (3,769,645) 38,829
   

Assets
Reportable segment assets 521,628 73,486
Deferred tax assets 80 4
Cash and cash equivalents 294,903 422,990
Unallocated head office and other assets 62,465 59,668
   

Consolidated total assets 879,076 556,148
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external 
customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (”specified non-current 
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the services were provided. The 
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based on the location of the operation to which they are 
allocated.

Year ended 31 December 2010

Hong Kong PRC Macau Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue from external customers 201,634 69,665 8,916 280,215
     

Specified non-current assets 201,777 240,095 5 441,877
     

Year ended 31 December 2009

Hong Kong PRC Macau Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue from external customers 193,902 12,278 8,323 214,503
     

Specified non-current assets 1,615 59,354 8 60,977
     

7. OTHER REVENUE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest income 534 1,138
Government grants (Note a) 4,313 5,723
Compensation from a customer – 2,263
Others 943 129
   

5,790 9,253
   

Note:

(a) Government grants were received from the local authorities to support the Group’s enhancement of service provision to overseas customers. 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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8. OTHER GAINS

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Changes in fair values of purchase consideration payables (Note 26) 291,086 –
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 19 –
Changes in fair values of foreign currency 

forward contracts – 711
   

291,105 711
   

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Name of directors Fees

Basic salaries,
allowances

and 
benefits-

in-kind
Discretionary 

bonus

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Li Kin Shing 80 608 73 34 795
Kwok King Wa 80 608 73 34 795
Li Yin 80 240 20 13 353
Wong Kin Wa 80 454 73 26 633
Li Wen 80 120 10 – 210
Tang Yue 80 – – – 80
Chen Xue Dao 80 – – – 80
Cheung Sai Ming 80 – – – 80
      

640 2,030 249 107 3,026
      

For the year ended 31 December 2009

Name of directors Fees

Basic salaries, 
allowances

and 
benefits-

in-kind
Discretionary 

bonus

Retirement 
scheme

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Li Kin Shing 80 608 97 35 820
Kwok King Wa 80 608 97 35 820
Li Yin 80 240 20 13 353
Wong Kin Wa 80 404 91 24 599
Li Wen 80 120 – – 200
Tang Yue 80 – – – 80
Chen Xue Dao 80 – – – 80
Cheung Sai Ming 80 – – – 80
      

640 1,980 305 107 3,032
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest are as follows:

2010 2009
Number of 
individual

Number of 
individual

   

Director of the Company 3 4
Senior management 2 1
   

Out of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2009: four) are directors whose emoluments are 
disclosed in Note 9(a). The aggregate emoluments in respect of the other two (2009: one) highest paid individuals 
are as follows:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other emoluments 818 488
Bonuses 79 52
Retirement scheme contribution 48 27
   

945 567
   

The emoluments of the above mentioned individuals with the highest emoluments fall within the following bands:

2010 2009
Number of 
individual

Number of 
Individual

   

HK$Nil – HK$1,000,000 2 1
   

10. DIVIDENDS
The dividends paid in 2010 amounted to HK$9,462,000 (final dividend of HK$0.01 per share) and HK$28,386,000 (special 
dividend of HK$0.03 per share) which are related to the dividends proposed in 2009.

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Final dividend of HK$0.01 in 2009 per ordinary share – 9,462
Special dividend of HK$0.03 in 2009 per ordinary share – 28,386
   

– 37,848
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11. EXPENSES BY NATURE
(a) Cost of sales and administrative expenses

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Employee benefits expenses (Note 11(b)) 156,525 139,152
Auditors’ remuneration

– audit services 1,544 1,233
– non-audit services 1,001 773

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 6,756 7,358
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) 2,320 322
Cost of inventories sold (Note 22) 13,663 –
Operating lease charges in respect of

– rental of building and offices 4,592 5,497
– hire of transmission lines 7,391 7,483

Other expenses 18,327 21,002
   

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 212,119 182,820
   

(b) Employee benefits expenses

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Wages, salaries and other benefits 141,501 126,631
Pension costs – defined contribution plan 15,024 12,521
   

156,525 139,152
   

Staff cost of HK$139,514,000 (2009: HK$125,142,000) has been charged in cost of sales.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current income tax:
Hong Kong profits tax 3,045 210
PRC corporate income tax 2,541 90
Deferred tax (Note 19) (461) 388
   

Income tax expense 5,125 688
   

(i) Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits 
for the year.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(ii) PRC corporate income tax
The applicable tax rate of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC, namely China Elite Info. Co., Ltd. (“China Elite”), 
was 25% in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 25%).

Xiamen Elite Electric Co. Ltd. (“Xiamen Elite”), a production-type foreign investment enterprise established in 
Xiamen, one of the Special Economic Zones in the PRC, was entitled to a two-year full exemption from income 
tax followed by a three-year 50% reduction in income tax rate (“2+3 tax holiday”) and a preferential tax rate of 
15%. According to the new Corporate Income Tax Law effective from 1 January 2009 and its relevant regulations, 
the 2+3 tax holiday is grandfathered. In addition, an enterprise which was subject to the reduced tax rate of 15% 
before, the transitional income tax rates are 18%, 20%, 22%, 24% and 25% for 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 
2012 onwards, respectively. Xiamen Elite had unused tax losses as at 31 December 2008 and is deemed to have 
started its tax holiday in 2009. Accordingly, Xiamen Elite is subject to income tax at the rates of 0%, 0%, 11%, 
12%, 12.5% and 25% for 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs than the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
weighted average tax rate applicable to (losses)/profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss)/profit before income tax (3,769,645) 38,829
   

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to (losses)/profits 
in the respective countries (450,251) 2,828

Tax effects of:
Income not subject to tax (34,930) (168)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 496,817 525
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (6,463) (2,493)
Others (48) (4)

   

Income tax expense 5,125 688
   

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 11.9% (2009: 7.3%).

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to the 
extent of a loss of HK$3,757,938,000 (2009: profit of HK$148,601,000).
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of 
HK$3,774,770,000 (2009: profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$38,141,000) and on the 
weighted average number of 946,200,000 (2009: 946,200,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
For diluted (loss)/earnings per share, the weighted average of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume 
conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

The purchase consideration payables arising from the acquisition of the Sunward Group (Note 26) potentially 
require such consideration to be settled in shares. As the Group is loss making for the year ended 31 December 
2010, the impact on the loss per share is anti-dilutive and consequently has not been reflected in the calculation of 
diluted loss per share.

Diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2009 as 
the inclusion of the effect of deemed issue of ordinary shares under the share options scheme would have an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group Building
Leasehold

improvements
Facilities

equipment
Office

equipment

Vehicles
and other

equipment
Construction

in progress
Machinery
equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 January 2009
Cost – 18,856 27,784 13,568 4,428 660 – 65,296
Accumulated depreciation – (15,666) (18,602) (8,054) (3,240) – – (45,562)
         

Net book amount – 3,190 9,182 5,514 1,188 660 – 19,734
         

Year ended 31 December 2009
Opening net book amount – 3,190 9,182 5,514 1,188 660 – 19,734
Additions 47,378 37 110 472 65 440 – 48,502
Depreciation – (1,330) (3,534) (1,920) (574) – – (7,358)
Transfer from construction in 

progress – – – – – (1,101) – (1,101)
Disposals – – – (46) – – – (46)
Exchange differences 21 4 9 7 (1) 1 – 41
         

Closing net book amount 47,399 1,901 5,767 4,027 678 – – 59,772
         

At 31 December 2009
Cost 47,399 18,913 27,919 13,660 4,493 – – 112,384
Accumulated depreciation – (17,012) (22,152) (9,633) (3,815) – – (52,612)
         

Net book amount 47,399 1,901 5,767 4,027 678 – – 59,772
         

Year ended 31 December 
2010

Opening net book amount 47,399 1,901 5,767 4,027 678 – – 59,772
Additions 82 1,254 641 932 2,214 1,067 239 6,429
Acquisition of subsidiaries 

(Note 29) – 361 – 755 321 – 1,286 2,723
Depreciation (1,240) (1,117) (2,466) (1,488) (357) – (88) (6,756)
Disposals – – – (20) – – (10) (30)
Exchange differences 1,631 67 134 147 2 17 23 2,021
         

Closing net book amount 47,872 2,466 4,076 4,353 2,858 1,084 1,450 64,159
         

At 31 December 2010
Cost 49,132 21,041 29,117 16,171 7,499 1,084 1,648 125,692
Accumulated depreciation (1,260) (18,575) (25,041) (11,818) (4,641) – (198) (61,533)
         

Net book amount 47,872 2,466 4,076 4,353 2,858 1,084 1,450 64,159
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Company
Leasehold

improvements
Facilities

equipment
Office

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 2009
Cost 4,821 271 27 5,119
Accumulated depreciation (4,782) (163) (18) (4,963)
     

Net book amount 39 108 9 156
     

Year ended 31 December 2009
Opening net book amount 39 108 9 156
Depreciation (36) (54) (2) (92)
     

Closing net book amount 3 54 7 64
     

At 31 December 2009
Cost 4,821 271 27 5,119
Accumulated depreciation (4,818) (217) (20) (5,055)
     

Net book amount 3 54 7 64
     

Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book amount 3 54 7 64
Depreciation (3) (54) (3) (60)
     

Closing net book amount – – 4 4
     

At 31 December 2010
Cost 4,821 271 27 5,119
Accumulated depreciation (4,821) (271) (23) (5,115)
     

Net book amount – – 4 4
     

16. GOODWILL

2010 2009
The Group HK$’000 HK$’000
   

As at 1 January – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 29) 4,333,021 –
Impairment charge (4,127,997) –
Exchange difference 76,385 –
   

As at 31 December 281,409 –
   

The carrying amount of the goodwill has been reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment 
loss.
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16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to operating segment. Since the goodwill was arisen from the 
acquisition of Sunward Group during the year ended 31 December 2010 (Note 29), it is allocated to the operating segment 
of RF-SIM business.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on fair value less costs to sell calculations. These calculations 
use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering up to 2024. Cash flows beyond 2024 have been 
extrapolated using the growth rate of 0% per annum which is determined by considering both internal and external factors 
relating to the CGU.

Key assumptions used for fair value less costs to calculations are as follows:

Estimated sales growth rates from 2011 to 2013 23 – 8%
Estimated sales decline rate from 2014 – 2024 5%
Discount rate 16.4%

Management determined the above estimated sales growth rates and royalty rates based on its expectations of market 
development. The discount rate used reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating segment.

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on asset impairment (Note 2.7), the carrying value of goodwill was tested 
for impairment as at 31 December 2010.

RF-SIM is a technology which allows a special-made SIM card to perform the function of mobile SIM card as well as a 
contact-less smart card. This is a new technology that embeds a special-made radio frequency module, i.e. 2.4GHz, into 
a mobile SIM card. The radio frequency module could carry out a point-to-point or point-to-multipoint communication, 
without affecting the mobile services or call in conversation.

There are currently three main models for mobile payment technology in the PRC, namely:

(i)  Near Field Communication (“NFC”), an international standard based on the 13.56MHz frequency;

(ii)  Dual-Interface SIM technology which is presented by SIMpass product in the PRC, which is also based on the 
13.56MHz frequency; and

(iii)  RF-SIM technology, operating at 2.4GHz frequency.
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16. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment test for goodwill (continued)
Management considered that there is a substantial value attributable to the market potential of RF-SIM due to the 
following:

• It is predicted that mobile near field payment would experience a strong growth due to the increasing acceptance 
in mobile internet, while mobile operators in the PRC would continue to increase their commitment in mobile near 
field payment;

• All of the three major mobile operators in the PRC had adopted the RF-SIM technology as one of the three mobile 
payment technologies; and

• RF-SIM technology has advantages over the NFC technology and Dual-Interface SIM technology.

As RF-SIM operates at 2.4GHz frequency, whilst there are two other payment technologies operate at 13.56MHz frequency,  
there are two incompatible standards for the mobile payment technology in the PRC. In the last quarter of 2010, there was 
an apparent concentration shift in the development strategies of certain major mobile operators which was evidenced by 
revenue generated from the sales of RF-SIM products decreasing significantly as compared to the previous quarters.

Due to such a change in circumstances, management revised the profit forecast by using the key assumptions as mentioned 
above. By comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill against its recoverable amount, which equals fair value less costs 
to sell, an impairment charge of HK$4,127,997,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group

Patent Software Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 2009
Cost – 510 510
Accumulated amortisation – (85) (85)
    

Net book value – 425 425
    

Year ended 31 December 2009
Opening net book value – 425 425
Additions – 1,101 1,101
Amortisation for the year – (322) (322)
Exchange differences – 1 1
    

Closing net book value – 1,205 1,205
    

At 31 December 2009
Cost – 1,613 1,613
Accumulated amortisation – (408) (408)
    

Net book value – 1,205 1,205
    

Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book value – 1,205 1,205
Additions – 24 24
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note (a) and Note 29) 97,265 116 97,381
Amortisation for the year (1,985) (335) (2,320)
Exchange differences – 19 19
    

Closing net book value 95,280 1,029 96,309
    

At 31 December 2010
Cost 97,265 1,793 99,058
Accumulated amortisation (1,985) (764) (2,749)
    

Net book value 95,280 1,029 96,309
    

Note:

(a) The patent acquired in a business combination (Note 29) is measured initially at its fair value at the acquisition date. As there is no active 
market existing for the patent acquired, management has considered a wide range of measures including engaging the independent 
professional valuer to evaluate the fair value of the patent based on the relief-from-royalty approach. The relief-from-royalty approach 
estimates the future royalties that would have to be paid to the equity holders of the Company for its current use. Under this approach, as 
royalties are based on sales, value of the patent is determined based on the Group’s estimated sales from the patent, a reasonable royalty 
rate and an appropriate discount rate as follows:

Estimated sales growth rate from 2011 to 2013 103-12%
Estimated sales decline rate from 2014 – 2024 5%
Royalty rate 3% of the estimated sales amount
Discount rate 17.4%

The patent is allocated to the same CGU as goodwill, which arose from the acquisition of Sunward Group. For impairment assessment 
purpose, the carrying values of the same CGU is compared against its recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised when the 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is then allocated to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill and 
then to the other assets of the same CGU ratably based on the carrying amount of each asset.
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
The Group

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January 404 –
Additions (Note 29) – 406
Share of losses – (2)
Disposals (Note 24) (404) –
   

At 31 December – 404
   

The Group’s share of the results of the associate in 2009, which was unlisted, and its aggregate assets and liabilities, were 
as follows:

Name
Place of 
incorporation Principal activities Assets Liabilities Revenue Loss

% interest
held

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Guangdong Zhitong Info. 
Construction Co., Ltd.

PRC Design and development of 
telecommunications system 
network technology and 
computer software

426 20 – 47 40%

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after 

more than 12 months (80) (4) – (4)
      

At 31 December (80) (4) – (4)
     

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liability to be recovered 

after more than 12 months 21,268 11 – –
Deferred tax liability to be recovered 

within 12 months 745 – – –
      

At 31 December 22,013 11 – –
     

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (net) 21,933 7 – (4)
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 7 (381) 4 –
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 29) 22,387 – – –
Income statement (credit)/charge (Note 12) (461) 388 (4) (4)
      

At 31 December 21,933 7 – (4)
     

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

The Group

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated
tax

depreciation
Fair value

gains Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 2009 229 –  229
Credited to consolidated income statement (218) – (218)
    

At 31 December 2009 11 – 11
    

At 1 January 2010 11 – 11
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 29) – 22,387 22,387
Charged/(credited) to consolidated income statement 72 (457) (385)
    

At 31 December 2010 83 21,930 22,013
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
The Group (continued)

Deferred tax assets
Unused tax

losses

Decelerated
tax

depreciation Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 2009 610 – – 610
Credited/(charged) to consolidated income 

statement (610) 4 – (606)
     

At 31 December 2009 – 4 – 4
     

At 1st January 2010 – 4 – 4
Credited/(charged) to consolidated income 

statement – (3) 79 76
     

At 31 December 2010 – 1 79 80
     

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax 
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$11 million 
(2009: HK$38 million) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised. The tax losses 
expire within five years after the year the loss occurred under the current tax legislation. All the tax losses will expire in 2011.

The Company

Deferred tax assets
Decelerated tax

depreciation
HK$’000

  

At 1 January 2009 –
Credited to income statement 4
  

At 31 December 2009 4
  

At 1 January 2010 4
Charged to income statement (4)
  

At 31 December –
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Trade receivables
– amounts due from 

related parties 33(c) 350 2,369 – –
– amounts due from 

third parties 107,715 67,664 9 33
      

(a) 108,065 70,033 9 33
Deposits, prepayments and 

other receivables 6,116 1,740 583 704
      

114,181 71,773 592 737
      

The amounts due from related parties were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand (2009: same).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following 
currencies:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

RMB 61,558 8,230 – –
HK$ 52,623 63,543 592 737
     

114,181 71,773 592 737
     

(a) Ageing analysis
Included in trade receivables are trade debtors (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the following ageing 
analysis based on invoice date as of the balance sheet date:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Aged within 1 month 41,081 17,338 9 33
Aged over 1 to 3 months 60,859 21,117 – –
Aged over 3 to 6 months 6,006 24,563 – –
Aged over 6 months to 1 year 119 7,015 – –
      

108,065 70,033 9 33
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is 
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade 
receivables directly (Note 2.9).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 570 535 – –
Impairment loss recognised 260 151 – –
Uncollectible amounts written off – (116) – –
      

At 31 December 830 570 – –
     

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s trade receivables of HK$830,000 (2009: HK$570,000) were individually 
determined to be impaired.

Trade receivables of HK$33,019,000 aged between 31 to 183 days (2009: HK$45,680,000) of the Group were past 
due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers who have no recent history of default. 
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Up to 3 months 29,195 21,117 – –
3 to 6 months 3,824 24,563 – –
      

33,019 45,680 – –
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

The individually impaired receivables related to invoices that were default in payments and management 
assessed that the receivables are not expected to be recovered. Consequently, allowances for doubtful debts of 
HK$260,000 (2009: HK$151,000) of the Group were recognised. The Group’s impaired receivables of HK$Nil (2009: 
HK$116,000) were individually determined to be written off against trade receivables directly.

According to the contracts entered into between the Group and its customers, payments in respect of the Group’s provision 
of services are made on an open account with credit terms ranging from 15 to 30 days. For the sales of goods, the credit 
terms is at maximum of 30 days. Subject to negotiation, credit terms could be further extended to three to six months for 
certain customers with well-established trading and payment records on a case-by-case basis. The Group generally gives 
credit terms to its customers based on certain criteria, such as the length of business relationship with the customers and the 
customer’s payment history, background and financial strength. The Group reviews the settlement records of its customers 
on a regular basis to determine their credit terms.

The carrying values of other receivables approximate their fair values. Deposits, prepayments and other receivables do not 
contain impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of each class of financial assets mentioned 
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Cash at banks and in hand 204,110 48,793 37,972 7,038
Short-term bank deposits 90,793 374,197 28,308 181,757
      

294,903 422,990 66,280 188,795
     

The effective interest rates on short-term bank deposits ranged from 0.01% to 0.19% (2009: 0.09% to 0.21%) per annum. 
These deposits have an average maturity of 30 to 90 days (2009: 32 to 90 days).

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following 
currencies:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

HK$ 206,823 392,430 57,465 179,998
US$ 55,372 8,894 8,815 8,797
RMB 32,696 21,651 – –
Other currencies 12 15 – –
      

294,903 422,990 66,280 188,795
     

As at 31 December 2010, cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$32,551,000 (2009: HK$21,440,000) of the 
Group and none of the cash and cash equivalents of the Company were deposited with banks in the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”). The conversion of these Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds 
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by The State Administration 
for Exchange Control.

22. INVENTORIES

The Group

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Raw materials 15,249 –
Work in progress 12,074 –
Finished goods 712 –
   

28,035 –
   

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$13,663,000 (2009: HK$Nil).
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23. SHARE CAPITAL
(a) Authorised and issued share capital

The Company

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised:
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 40,000 40,000
   

Issued and fully paid:
946,200,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 9,462 9,462
   

As set out in Note 26, the number of shares to be issued by the Company will be 2,081,620,000 if the holders 
convert the purchase consideration payables into shares. The holders can only convert it into shares from the date 
of issuance  in 2011 and the latest time for conversion is in 2016.

(b) Share based payments
The Company has two share option schemes, namely the Share Option Scheme and the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme, which were adopted on 21 September 2007 whereby the Board of the Company is authorised, at its 
discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including directors of any company in the Group, to take up options 
at a cash consideration of HK$1.00 for each grantee to subscribe for shares of the Company. As at 31 December 
2010, no option was granted under the Share Option Scheme (2009: Same). The exercise price of the share options 
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was determined based on the new issue price of the Company’s shares on 
16 October 2007 (the “Listing Date”). The options vest after one year from the Listing Date and are then exercisable 
within a period of six months. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the 
Company. All Pre-IPO share options grants by the company on 8 October 2007 under its Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme had not been exercised and such Pre-IPO share options ceased to have any effect after the end of the 
exercise period on 15 April 2009.

24. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 30 November 2010, the Group entered into an agreement with Mr. Li Kin Shing for the disposal of Star Global 
Technology Limited (“Star Global“). Details are as follows:

HK$’000
  

Cash consideration received 506
Net assets disposed:

Investment in an associate (Note 18) (404)
Cash and cash equivalents (83)

  

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 19
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25. RESERVES – GROUP AND COMPANY
(a) The Group

Statutory
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

reserve
Other 

reserve

Retained
earnings/

(accumulated 
losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 January 2009 97 4,846 326,387 6,668 18,101 138,627 494,726
Profit for the year – – – – – 38,141 38,141
Exchange difference on translation 

of financial statements 
of subsidiaries – 241 – – – – 241

        

At 31 December 2009 97 5,087 326,387 6,668 18,101 176,768 533,108
        

At 1 January 2010 97 5,087 326,387 6,668 18,101 176,768 533,108
Loss for the year – – – – – (3,774,770) (3,774,770)
Exchange difference on translation 

of financial statements 
of subsidiaries – 80,650 – – – – 80,650

Dividends relating to 2009 – – – – – (37,848) (37,848)
Income tax expense of 

a subsidiary borne by 
the ultimate shareholder – – – – 245 – 245

        

At 31 December 2010 97 85,737 326,387 6,668 18,346 (3,635,850) (3,198,615)
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25. RESERVES – GROUP AND COMPANY (continued)

(b) The Company

Share
premium

Other
reserve

Retained
earnings/

(accumulated
losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2009 326,387 18,101 21,000 365,488
Profit for the year – – 148,601 148,601
     

At 31 December 2009 326,387 18,101 169,601 514,089
     

At 1 January 2010 326,387 18,101 169,601 514,089
Loss for the year – – (3,757,938) (3,757,938)
     

At 31 December 2010 326,387 18,101 (3,588,337) (3,243,849)
     

(i) Statutory reserve
The Group’s wholly owned subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer not less than 25% of their net 
profits, as determined in accordance with Commercial Code of Macau, to their statutory reserve funds until 
the balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The balances of statutory reserve in their subsidiaries had 
already reached 50% of their respective registered capital and no more transfer was required to be made to 
the statutory reserve funds of these subsidiaries.

The statutory reserve can be used to make up for previous years’ losses of the subsidiaries, if any. This fund 
can also be used to increase capital of the subsidiaries, if approved. This fund is non-distributable other than 
upon liquidation. Transfer to this fund must be made before distributing dividends to the equity holders.

Pursuant to the applicable regulations in the PRC, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary in the PRC, 
namely China Elite, is required to transfer at least 10% of its after-tax profit determined under the relevant 
accounting regulations in the PRC (after offsetting prior year losses) to the statutory reserve until the balance 
reaches 50% of the registered capital. As China Elite had accumulated losses, no transfer was made to the 
statutory reserve during the year (2009: Nil).

(ii) Distributability of reserves
Under the Cayman Companies Law, the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions 
or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or Articles of Association and 
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as 
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had HK$326,387,000 (2009: HK$495,988,000) available for 
distribution to equity holders of the Company, subject to immediately following the distribution of 
dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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26. PURCHASE CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

The Group and the Company
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Initial fair values of purchase consideration payables at the date of
acquisition (Note 29) 4,284,701 –

Fair values adjustment (Note 8) (291,086) –
   

Fair values of purchase consideration payables at 31 December 2010 3,993,615 –
   

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement as set out in Note 29, as part of the consideration, non-interest bearing convertible 
notes with principal amounts of HK$1,800,000,000 will be issued in 2011. The convertible notes will mature in 5 years from 
the date of issuance. The conversion price for the convertible notes has been set at HK$1 per share. The actual numbers of 
shares to be issued will be subject to the profit of Sunward Group for the year ended 31 December 2010. Such convertible 
notes will only be issued in 2011 (i.e. 31 May 2011 or if the audited financial statements of Sunward Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2010 (the “2010 Audited Accounts”) has not yet been issued by the independent accountant for 
any reasons by 31 March 2011, the last day of the second month after the issuing date of the 2010 Audited Accounts). 
The number of shares that will be issued by the Company is calculated based on formula stipulated in the Acquisition 
Agreement and it is variable in accordance with the profit of Sunward Group as mentioned above, according to IAS 32, the 
purchase consideration payables should be classified as liabilities.

According to IFRS 3R, contingent consideration classified as a liability that is a financial instrument and is within the scope 
of IAS 39 shall be measured at fair value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised in income statement in accordance with 
IFRS. As a result, the purchase consideration payables were recognised initially at fair values and subsequent re-measured at 
fair values at balance sheet date. The key assumptions are as follows:

15 September
2010

31 December
2010

   

Closing share price of the Company HK$1.83 HK$1.70
Expected volatility of underlying share 86.322% 83.034%
Dividend yield 1.670% 1.670%
Risk free rate 1.142% 1.763%
Discount rate 11.772% 11.893%

The fair value adjustment as at 31 December 2010 of HK$291,086,000 is recognised in “Other gains” in the consolidated 
income statement (Note 8).

The fair values of the purchase consideration payables will be re-assessed in 2011 upon its issuance; whereby the number 
of shares associated with the conversion feature of the convertible notes would also be fixed. The convertible notes are 
repayable at maturity date (i.e. 5 years from the date of issuance) unless they have been converted into ordinary shares prior 
to the maturity date. Since the conversion feature allows the fixed principal amounts of convertible notes to be converted 
at fixed conversion price, the convertible notes should be split into 2 portions, the liability portion and the equity portion 
according to their respective fair values at the date of issue. The liability portion should be stated at amortised cost while the 
conversion feature should be classified as equity according to IAS 32.

According to the profit of Sunward Group for the year ended 31 December 2010, the number of shares to be issued by the 
Company will be 2,081,620,000 if the holders convert the purchase consideration payables into shares.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Trade payables (a) 6,571 6,823 – –
Other payables and accruals

– amount due to related 
parties 33(c) 11,752 – – –

– others 17,146 5,349 1,866 1,922
      

35,469 12,172 1,866 1,922
      

The amounts due to related parties were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand (2009: same).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s trade and other payables are denominated in the following 
currencies:

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

RMB 27,300 9,423 – –
HK$ 8,169 2,749 1,866 1,922
     

35,469 12,172 1,866 1,922
     

(a) Trade payables

The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

The ageing analysis of trade 
payables is as follows:

0 – 30 days 5,816 6,487 – –
31 – 60 days 566 48 – –
61 – 90 days 12 68 – –
Over 90 days 177 220 – –
     

6,571 6,823 – –
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28. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss)/profit before income tax (3,769,645) 38,829
Adjustments for:

– Deprecation of property, plant and equipment 6,756 7,358
– Amortisation of intangible assets 2,320 322
– Impairment of goodwill 4,127,997 –
– Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (19) –
– Impairment losses of trade receivables 260 151
– Finance costs – 175
– Share of losses of an associate – 2
– Change in fair values of purchase consideration payables (291,086) –
– Change in fair value of foreign currency forward contract – (711)
– Interest income (534) (1,138)
– Foreign exchange losses 1,457 485
– Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 30 46

Changes in working capital
– Inventories (9,226) –
– Trade and other receivables 55,548 (25,942)
– Trade and other payables (34,872) (4,503)

   

Cash generated from operations 88,986 15,074
   

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

The Group

Net book amount (Note 15) 30 46
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (30) (46)
   

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – –
   

Major non-cash transaction 
The principal non-cash transaction is the purchase consideration payables of HK$4,284,701,000 which shall be satisfied by 
the issuance of convertible notes in 2011 as set out in Note 26.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of interests in Sunward Group
On 4 May 2010, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement (“Acquisition Agreement”) with Mr. Li Kin Shing, 
CEO of the Group and Ms. Kwok King Wa, Chairman of the Group, who are also the controlling shareholders of the 
Company, pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital of Sunward 
Telecom Limited for an aggregate consideration of HK$2,000,000,000, which shall be satisfied as to an aggregate amount 
of HK$200,000,000 by cash and as to an aggregate amount of HK$1,800,000,000 by the issue of convertible notes. 
The principal balance of the convertible notes will change subject to the profit of Sunward Group for the year ended 
31 December 2010 and by applying a price-earnings multiple of 20 times according to the formula as stipulated in the 
Acquisition Agreement. As the conversion price will be fixed at HK$1.00, the actual number of shares to be issued will 
change accordingly.

On 15 September 2010, following the fulfillment of all conditions as set out in the Acquisition Agreement, the acquisition of 
Sunward Group was completed and Sunward Telecom Limited became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Details of the consideration paid/payable and net assets acquired are as follows:

2010
HK$’000

  

Cash 200,000
Purchase consideration payables (Note 26) 4,284,701
  

Total consideration 4,484,701
  

Net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 2,723
Patent (Note 17) 97,265
Other intangible assets (Note 17) 116
Inventories 18,809
Trade and other receivables 97,971
Cash and cash equivalents 26,092
Trade and other payables (58,169)
Current income tax liabilities (10,740)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 19) (22,387)
  

151,680
  

Goodwill on acquisition (Note 16) 4,333,021
  

Goodwill arising from the acquisition date amounted to HK$4,333,021,000 as computed above. The terms for the purchase 
consideration payables, including the conversion price for the convertible notes, have been determined when the Acquisition 
Agreement was entered into on 4 May 2010. The conversion price was set at HK$1.00 per share based on the closing share 
price of the Company when the Acquisition Agreement was entered into. As the transaction was only completed on 15 
September 2010, the fair values of the consideration paid, including the purchase consideration payables, were determined 
with reference the closing share price of the Company on the acquisition date which was HK$1.83 per share. This resulted 
in a significant increase in the purchase consideration payables, resulting in a significant increase in the goodwill recognised 
for the acquisition.



International Elite Ltd. Annual Report 2010 85

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Acquisition of interests in Sunward Group (continued)
The goodwill is attributable to future expected profitability of the acquired business, acquisition of highly skilled workforce, 
potential contracts with prospective new customers, non-contractual customer relationships and research and development 
potential for future technology improvement.

The revenue included in the consolidated income statement since 15 September 2010 contributed by the Sunward Group 
was HK$56,491,000 and its contributed net profit was HK$29,219,000 over the same period.

Had the Sunward Group been consolidated from 1 January 2010, the revenue contributed by the Sunward Group would be 
HK$224,286,000 and contributed net profit of HK$114,081,000.

The acquisition-related costs of HK$3,325,000 have been included in the administrative expenses in the consolidated 
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010

Acquisition of interests in Star Global
On 15 October 2009, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Star Global from Mr. Li Kin Shing, CEO of the Group 
and Ms. Kwok King Wa, Chairman of the Group for a cash consideration of HK$506,000.

Details of the consideration paid and net assets acquired are as follows:

2009
HK$

  

Cash 506
  

Net assets acquired
Investment in an associate (Note 18) 406
Cash and cash equivalents 100

  

506
  

Goodwill –
  

As set out in Note 24, the Group disposed of Star Global during the year.

30. COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

The Group

Property, plant, equipment 597 – – –
Construction in progress 1,450 – – –
      

2,047 – – –
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30. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments – as leases
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2010 2009

The Group Properties
Transmission

lines Properties
Transmission

lines 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Within 1 year 1,425 1,711 – 3,141
Over 1 year but within 5 years 2,450 – – 1,150
     

3,875 1,711 – 4,291
     

2010 2009

The Company Properties
Transmission

lines Properties
Transmission

lines
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Within 1 years 168 – – –
Over 1 year but within 2 years 168 – – –
     

336 – – –
     

The Group leases a number of properties and transmission lines held under non-cancellable operating leases. The 
lease terms are between one to five years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None 
of the leases includes contingent rentals.

31. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Unlisted shares, at cost 4,484,798 603
Less: provision for impairment loss (Note a) (4,001,689) –
   

483,109 603
    

Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note b) 235,356 335,306
    

Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note b) (24,247) –
   

Notes:

(a) During the year, management has assessed the recoverable amounts of the investments, which are determined based on the net asset values 
of the subsidiaries at year end. Due to the change in circumstances as set out in Note 16, a provision of HK$4,001,689,000 was recognised 
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

(b) The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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31. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2010:

Name

Place of
incorporation or
establishment and
kind of legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

Particulars of issued and
paid-up capital and
debt securities

Interest
held

     

China Elite Info. Co., Ltd.(2) PRC, limited liability 
company

Services relating to information 
and telecommunications 
system network technology; 
data communications 
technology services in the PRC

Registered and 
paid-up capital of 
HK$94,000,000

100%

International Elite Limited 
– Macao Commercial 
Offshore

Macau Special 
Administrative Region 
(“Macau”) of the 
PRC, limited liability 
company

Call centre for customer support 
and back offices in Macau

Authorised and paid-up 
capital of Macau Patacus 
(“MOP”)100,000

100%(1)

International Elite Services 
Limited

Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Investment holding Registered and paid-up 
capital of HK$1

100%(1)

Keithick Profits Limited British Virgin Islands, 
limited liability 
company

Investment holding Authorised capital of 
US$50,000 and paid-up 
capital of US$1

100%(1)

PacificNet Communications 
Limited – Macao 
Commercial Offshore

Macau, limited liability 
company

Call centre for customer support 
and back offices in Macau

Authorised and paid-up 
capital of MOP100,000

100%

PacificNet Management 
Limited

British Virgin Islands, 
limited liability 
company

Investment holding Authorised capital of 
US$50,000 and paid-up 
capital of US$50

100%(1)

Sunward Network 
Technology Limited

British Virgin Islands, 
limited liability 
company

Telecommunications consultancy 
in Hong Kong

Authorised capital of 
US$50,000 and paid-up 
capital of US$2

100%

Sunward Telecom Limited British Virgin Islands, 
limited liability 
company

Investment holding Authorised capital of 
US$50,000 and paid-up 
capital of US$2

100%(1)

Target Link Enterprises 
Limited

Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Designing, development 
and manufacturing of 
telecommunications products 
and software in Hong Kong 
and the PRC

Authorised capital of 
HK$10,000 and paid-up 
capital of HK$250

100%

Winet Engineering Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Marketing and technical 
support services for 
telecommunications 
companies in Hong Kong

Authorised capital of 
HK$10,000 and paid-up 
capital of HK$2

100%

Xiamen Elite Electric Co. 
Ltd.(2)

PRC, limited liability 
company

Manufacturing and sales of 
RF-SIM cards in the PRC

Registered and paid-up 
capital of HK$4,000,000

100%

(1) Shares held directly by the Company
(2) These entities are established as wholly owned enterprises in the PRC
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

The Group

Loans and
receivables

HK$’000
  

Assets as per consolidated balance sheet
31 December 2010
Trade and other receivables 109,807
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) 294,903
  

404,710
�  

31 December 2009
Trade and other receivables 71,086
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) 422,990
  

Total 494,076
  

Liabilities at
fair value

through the
profit and loss

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet
31 December 2010
Trade and other payables – 20,601 20,601
Purchase consideration payables (Note 26) 3,993,615 – 3,993,615
    

Total 3,993,615 20,601 4,014,216
    

31 December 2009
Trade and other payables – 2,579 2,579
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The Company

Loans and
receivables

HK$’000
  

Assets as per balance sheet
31 December 2010
Trade and other receivables 341
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 31) 235,356
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) 66,280
  

Total 301,977
  

31 December 2009
Trade and other receivables 360
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 31) 335,306
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) 188,795
  

Total 524,461
   

Liabilities at
fair value

through the
profit and loss

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Liabilities as per balance sheet
31 December 2010
Trade and other payables – 315 315
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 31) – 24,247 24,247
Purchase consideration payables (Note 26) 3,993,615 – 3,993,615
    

3,993,615 24,562 4,018,177
    

31 December 2009
Trade and other payables – 198 198
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Relationship between the Group and related parties

(i) Ultimate shareholders of the Group
Li Kin Shing
Kwok King Wa
Li Yin

(ii) Subject to common control of ultimate shareholders
China-Hong Kong Telecom Ltd.
Directel Communications Ltd.
Directel Holdings Limited
Directel Limited
Elitel Limited
Fastary Limited
Jandah Management Limited
Talent Information Engineering Co., Ltd.

(iii) Related company of ultimate shareholders
Guangdong Zhitong Investment Ltd.

(b) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Sales (i) 4,471 6,504
Licensing income (ii) 19 –
Income tax expense of a subsidiary borne by the 

ultimate shareholder (iii) 245 –
Rental expenses for properties (iv) 223 1,325
Purchase of a property (v) – 45,976
Acquisition of subsidiaries (vi) 4,193,615 506
Disposal of a subsidiary (vii) 506 –
    

Notes:

(i) Sales to related parties mainly represent rendering service of CRM. The selling prices are determined based on prevailing price of 
similar services to independent third party customers.

(ii) Licensing income from Directel Limited, licensee of the operation rights of RF-SIM in markets other than the PRC is determined on 
a mutually agreed basis.

(iii) Hong Kong profit tax paid for a subsidiary for the period from 1 January to 15 October 2007 (before listing) was borne by an 
ultimate shareholder, Mr. Li Kin Shing.

(iv) The Group rented properties from the ultimate shareholder, Mr. Li Kin Shing, and a related party, Talent Information Engineering 
Co., Ltd., on a mutually agreed basis.

(v) The Group purchased a property from an ultimate shareholder, Mr. Li Kin Shing at a cash consideration of HK$45,976,000.

(vi) The Company acquired 100% of equity interests in Sunward Group from Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa during the year 
(Note 29) and Star Global from Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King  Wa in the prior year (Note 29).

(vii) The Company disposed of 100% of equity interests in Star Global to Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa (Note 24). 
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balances with related parties
The outstanding balances arising from the above transactions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Amounts due from related parties
– trade 20 350 2,369

    

Amounts due to related parties
– others 27 11,752 –

    

Balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(d) Key management compensation
Key management includes directors and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9 and Note 11. 
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Wages, salaries and other benefits 3,829 3,881
Contribution to retirement benefit schemes 194 180
   

4,023 4,061
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Results

Turnover 280,215 214,503 238,983 213,870 149,864
      

(Loss)/profit from operations (3,769,645) 39,006 36,858 62,126 30,378
Finance costs – (175) (337) (186) –
Share of losses of an associate – (2) – – –
      

(Loss)/profit before income tax (3,769,645) 38,829 36,521 61,940 30,378
Income tax expense (5,125) (688) (5,104) (2,193) 6,290
      

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company (3,774,770) 38,141 31,417 59,747 36,668

      

At 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Assets and liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 64,159 59,772 19,734 25,013 29,545
Goodwill 281,409 – – – –
Intangible assets 96,309 1,205 425 – –
Interest in an associate – 404 – – –
Deferred tax assets 80 4 610 4,432 6,290
Net current assets 384,518 481,196 483,648 426,357 24,843
      

Total assets less current liabilities 826,475 542,581 504,417 455,802 60,678
      

Purchase consideration payables 3,993,615 – – – –
Deferred tax liabilities 22,013 11 229 – –
      

Net (liabilities)/assets (3,189,153) 542,570 504,188 455,802 60,678
      

Capital and reserves
Share capital 9,462 9,462 9,462 9,462 14
Reserves (3,198,615) 533,108 494,726 446,340 60,664
      

Total equity (3,189,153) 542,570 504,188 455,802 60,678
      

(Loss)/earnings per share (Note)
– Basic HK$(3,99) HK$0.04 HK$0.03 HK$0.08 HK$0.06
– Diluted HK$(3,99) HK$0.04 HK$0.03 HK$0.08 HK$0.06

      

Note: As a result of the capitalization issues in 2007, figures for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been adjusted for comparison purposes.
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